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RESULTS SUMMARY

The board of directors (“Board” or “Directors”) of Emperor Capital 
Group Limited (“Company”) presents the audited consolidated 
results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred 
to as “Group”) for the year ended 30 September 2024 (“Year”).

For the year ended 
30 September Changes

9 30
HK$’000 2024 2023

Total revenue 531,628 441,046 +20.5%

Wealth solutions 278,033 104,700 +165.6%

Financing 242,758 323,071 –24.9%

Corporate finance 10,837 13,275 –18.4%

Impairment allowances 1 1 158,931 403,638 –60.6%

Net profit/(loss) 66,361 (160,638) Turnaround

Basic earnings/(loss) per share HK0.98 cent HK(2.38) cents N/A 

1 Represents the net impairment allowances mainly from margin loans, 
other loans and advances

2 0 2 4
9 30

1 
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Results
Despite facing a tough operating business environment, the 
Group’s total revenue increased by 20.5% to HK$531.6 million 
(2023: HK$441.0 million) during the Year. Net impairment 
allowances mainly from margin loans, other loans and advances 
(“Impairment Allowances”) decreased significantly to HK$158.9 
million (2023: HK$403.6 million), resulting in the Group turning 
around to a net profit of HK$66.4 million (2023: net loss of 
HK$160.6 million). Basic earnings per share was HK0.98 cent 
(2023: basic loss per share of HK2.38 cents).

Market Review
Although the macro economy had once seen improvement after 
the pandemic, the world’s major economies – China and the 
United States – have been facing headwinds during the Year: 
geopolitical tensions, debt issues, inflationary pressure, high 
unemployment rates, etc, plus the expectations for delayed 
Federal Reserve interest rate cut, have all adversely impacted the 
capital markets as well as business performance of corporations. 
Turnovers of the Hong Kong stock market remained low, and the 
initial public offering (“IPO”) market was sluggish.

In the second half of the Year, investment sentiment improved 
following the announcement of measures to enhance mutual 
access between the capital markets of Mainland China and Hong 
Kong in late April; trading activities picked up and fund raising 
activities revived to a certain extent. Furthermore, with the Federal 
Reserve interest rate cut in mid-September serving as a catalyst 
that had a positive influence on the stock markets, the Hang Seng 
Index rose markedly, and closed at its highest during the Year at 
21,133 on 30 September 2024.

Fintech Wealth Summit 2024

2 0 . 5 % 5 3 1 , 6 0 0 , 0 0 0
2 0 2 3 4 4 1 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0

158,900 ,000
2 0 2 3 4 0 3 , 6 0 0 , 0 0 0

66,400,000
2 0 2 3 1 6 0 , 6 0 0 , 0 0 0

0 . 9 8 2 0 2 3
2.38
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Business Review
Established in 1993, the Group is a renowned financial institution 
providing one-stop financial services including (i) wealth solutions 
covering global investment, wealth management and asset 
management services; (ii) financing covering provision of margin 
financing and money lending services; and (iii) corporate finance 
advisory services. The Company’s shares have been listed on the 
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock 
Exchange”) since April 2007. Currently, the Group’s headquarters 
is located in Hong Kong, and is operating three liaison offices in 
Mainland China – in Beijing, Shanghai and Guangzhou.

Wealth Solutions
The Group’s wealth solutions segment comprises the global 
investment, wealth management and asset management 
divisions.

The global investment division offers a full range of financial 
services and investment products to its high net worth clients 
spanning securities, futures and options traded on exchanges in 
Hong Kong, Mainland China (via Shanghai and Shenzhen-Hong 
Kong Stock Connect schemes respectively) and major overseas 
countries, bonds and fund investments, proprietary trading, etc. 
The Group’s web-based and mobile trading platforms enable 
real-time transaction and investment portfolio monitoring for its 
clients.

The wealth management division offers balanced solutions, 
helping its high net worth clients create customised and robust 
investment portfolios which comprise a wide array of financial 
products, including insurance, funds, bonds and stocks.

Briefing session of New Capital Investment Entrant Scheme organised by InvestHK
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The asset management division offers customised investment 
services, ranging from private investment funds, personalised 
discretionary investment portfolio management services to 
investment information services, helping its clients to generate 
stable and substantial returns. It also manages Open-Ended Fund 
Companies (OFC) and Limited Partnership Funds (LPF), as well 
as possesses Qualified Foreign Institutional Investor (QFII) and 
Qualified Foreign Limited Partner (QFLP).

With an aim of expanding its revenue sources, the Group has 
stepped up efforts in introducing new services and products. 
During the Year, revenue from the wealth solutions segment 
increased by 165.6% to HK$278.0 million (2023: HK$104.7 
million), accounting for 52.3% (2023: 23.7%) of the Group’s total 
revenue, despite an unfavourable stock market environment.

Financing
The Group’s financing segment derives interest income from 
both short-term and long-term loans, including but not limited 
to personal loans, first and second mortgages loans. Building on 
its strong reputation for delivering professional and personalised 
loan services, the Group has developed a niche in the loan 
market, providing corporate and retail clients with tailored liquidity 
solutions to meet their corporate goals and personal needs.

During the Year, the Group continued adhering to its cautious 
approach and adopted a stringent credit risk management and 
control mechanism, in order to minimise default risks. The Group 
adjusted the interest rate and loan-to-value ratio on a timely basis, 
according to the market situation. During the Year, revenue from 
the financing segment was HK$242.8 million (2023: HK$323.1 
million), accounting for 45.7% (2023: 73.3%) of the Group’s total 
revenue.

Corporate Finance
The corporate finance segment offers professional advisory 
services on corporate transactions comprising IPOs, mergers and 
acquisitions, spin-offs, project investment, asset sales, corporate 
restructuring, issuance, placement and underwriting of shares and 
bonds. The Group holds a full corporate finance advisory licence 
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance.

During the Year, the Group continued to partake in fundraising 
projects, with involvement in multiple roles. Revenue from the 
corporate finance segment was HK$10.8 million (2023: HK$13.3 
million), accounting for 2.0% (2023: 3.0%) of the Group’s total 
revenue.
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Celebration for the 17th listing anniversary of Emperor Capital Group Limited
17

Outlook
Subsequent to the Year, sentiment across various sectors such 
as financial, property and retail have revived as a result of the 
Federal Reserve interest rate cut, contributing to the increase 
in transactions and consumption within these sectors. The 
further interest rate cuts in November and December, as well 
as the stimulus measures launched by the Central Government 
subsequent to the Year are expected to exert a positive influence 
on the market environments and trading turnovers, which will 
also help boost the demand for monetary and financial services.

That said, factors including but not limited to geopolitical tensions 
and interest rate volatility may weigh on business confidence 
and asset markets; the Group will therefore continue adopting 
a cautious yet pragmatic approach to combat the uncertainties. 
The local government has been strengthening its economic links 
with overseas economies and Mainland China; with its strategic 
role as an international financial centre and within the Greater 
Bay Area, Hong Kong is well placed to attract foreign investments 
from around the world, and the Group will implement appropriate 
strategies in order to seize the market opportunities.

11 12
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Financial Information
Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources
The Group financed its business operations by cash mainly 
generated from business operations and borrowings. As at 
30 September 2024, the Group’s current assets and current 
liabilities were HK$4,977.1 million (2023: HK$4,712.5 million) and 
HK$1,813.5 million (2023: HK$1,792.0 million) respectively. As at 
30 September 2024, aggregate of bank balances, cash and pledged 
bank deposits of the Group amounted to HK$1,520.8 million 
(2023: HK$1,162.3 million), which were mainly denominated in 
Hong Kong dollar.

As at 30 September 2024, the Group did not have any bank 
borrowings (2023: HK$210.0 million), hence the gearing ratio was 
zero (2023: 6.2%; calculated as a percentage of total borrowings 
over total equity of the Group). The Group did not have any 
material foreign exchange exposure as at 30 September 2024.

With the Group’s sufficient bank balances and cash, as well as its 
available unutilised banking facilities of HK$1,205 million (2023: 
HK$1,765.0 million) as at 30 September 2024, the Board considers 
the Group has sufficient working capital for its operation and 
future development.

Establishment ceremony of the Association of Hong Kong Capital Market Practitioners
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Pledge of Assets
As at 30 September 2024, bank deposit of the Group with 
aggregate carrying amount of HK$260.0 million (2023: HK$160.0 
million) was pledged to a bank as security for banking facilities.

Impairment Allowances
An Impairment Allowances of HK$158.9 million (2023: HK$403.6 
million) was recognised this Year. The Impairment Allowances 
was made in respect of certain margin clients and borrowers in 
commercial, mortgage and personal loans. Details of the reasons 
for the recognition of majority of the Impairment Allowances are 
set out below:

1. Net provision for impairment of accounts receivable arising 
from margin financing amounted to approximately HK$4.0 
million
a. During the Year, advances to twenty customers in 

margin financing with the total gross carrying amount 
of approximately HK$562.4 million as at 30 September 
2024 were assessed as credit-impaired stage mainly 
due to decline in the market price of listed securities 
pledged as collateral in the Year and failure of the 
margin borrowers to fully make up the margin shortfall 
by providing additional collaterals or repayment. The 
impairment provision of these twenty exposures for 
the Year was determined by assessing the future cash 
flows expected to be recoverable from the borrowers 
and the listed securities pledged as collateral for each 
of the margin borrowers on an individual assessment 
basis. Impairment provision with a total amount of 
approximately HK$112.4 million was made for the Year 
for these twenty exposures.

b. During the Year, an impairment provision of approximately 
HK$9.1 million was made on advances to two customers 
in margin financing with the total gross carrying amount 
of approximately HK$34.2 million as at 30 September 
2024 were assessed as credit-impaired stage due to 
suspension of trading of the listed securities pledged as 
collateral in the Year and failure of the margin borrowers 
to fully make up the margin shortfall by providing 
additional collateral or repayment.

2 0 2 4 9 3 0
260,000,000 2023 160,000,000

158 ,900 ,000
2 0 2 3 4 0 3 , 6 0 0 , 0 0 0

1 .  
4 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0

a .  2 0 2 4 9 3 0
5 6 2 , 4 0 0 , 0 0 0

2 0

2 0

2 0
1 1 2 , 4 0 0 , 0 0 0

b .  
2024 9 30
34,200 ,000

2
9 , 1 0 0 , 0 0 0
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c. During the Year, an impairment reversal of approximately 
HK$99.4 million was made on advances to ten customers 
in margin financing with the total gross carrying amount 
of approximately HK$649.9 million as at 30 September 
2024, which were classified as credit-impaired stage, 
due to settlement received upon repayment and/or 
enforcement of collateral in the Year.

d. During the Year, an impairment reversal of approximately 
HK$18.3 million was made on advances to four 
customers in margin financing with the total gross 
carrying amount of approximately HK$155.9 million as 
at 30 September 2024, which were classified as credit-
impaired stage, due to resumption of trading and/or 
increase in market price of the listed securities pledged 
as collateral in the Year.

2. Net provision for impairment of loans and advances 
amounted to approximately HK$149.2 million
a. During the Year, loans and advances to forty-six 

borrowers with the total gross carrying amount of 
approximately HK$337.1 million as at 30 September 
2024 were assessed as credit-impaired stage mainly due 
to failure of these borrowers to repay the interest and/or 
the principal and decline in the market price of pledged 
properties. The impairment provision of these forty-six 
exposures for the Year was determined by assessing 
the future cash flows expected to be recoverable from 
the borrowers and the pledged properties for each 
of the borrowers on an individual assessment basis 
taking into account of current market conditions and 
forward looking factors. Impairment provision with a 
total amount of approximately HK$162.4 million was 
made for the Year for these forty-six exposures.

b. During the Year, loans and advances to thirteen 
borrowers with the total gross carrying amount of 
approximately HK$133.3 million as at 30 September 
2024 were assessed as credit-impaired stage mainly 
due to failure of these borrowers to repay the interest 
and/or the principal on time in the Year. The impairment 
provision of these thirteen exposures for the Year was 
determined by assessing the future cash flow expected 
to be recoverable from the borrowers including an 
assessment of cash flows expected to be recovered 
taking account of the current conditions affecting the 
borrower, past collection history, and consideration of 
forward looking factors. Impairment provision with a 
total amount of approximately HK$24.5 million was 
made for the Year for these thirteen exposures.
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c. During the Year, an impairment reversal of approximately 
HK$39.1 million was made to twenty-six borrowers in 
loans and advances, which were classified as credit-
impaired stage, due to settlement received and/or 
enforcement of pledged properties upon full or partial 
repayment in the Year. The total gross carrying amount 
was approximately HK$79.6 million as at 30 September 
2024.

Follow-up and Debt Collection Actions on Overdue 
and Defaulted Loans
The Group has debt recovery procedures in place. For any loans 
with shortfall and/or overdue payments, demand letters and legal 
letters will be issued. If the borrower does not respond, the Group 
will engage external legal advisors for legal actions. Meanwhile, 
the Group will contact the borrower for additional collateral 
and/or settlement plan. The Group may engage debt collection 
agents for such loan where appropriate. If the negotiation is not 
successful, or additional collateral is not sufficient or default in 
settlement plan, external legal advisers will issue final warning 
to the borrower. Subsequently, writs of summon will be served to 
the borrower to take proceedings to court.

Debt recovery actions had been taken on the credit-impaired 
loans. Some legal proceedings on such credit-impaired loans 
were still in progress.
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Employees and Remuneration Policy
As at 30 September 2024, the Group had 90 (2023: 83) account 
executives and 126 (2023: 139) employees. Total staff costs 
(including Directors’ remuneration) were approximately HK$73.9 
million (2023: HK$72.0 million) for the Year. Each employee’s 
remuneration was determined in accordance with individual’s 
responsibilities, competence and skills, experience and 
performance as well as market pay levels. Staff benefits include 
medical and life insurance, provident funds and other competitive 
fringe benefits.

To provide incentives or rewards to the staff, the Company has 
adopted a share option scheme, particulars of which are set out 
in the section headed “Share Options” of this annual report.

Final Dividend
The Board has resolved not to recommend any final dividend for 
the Year (2023: Nil).

 
Exchange program on analysing the Hong Kong financial market plus corporate visits

2 0 2 4 9 3 0 9 0 2 0 2 3
83 126 2023 139

73,900,000 2023 72,000,000

2 0 2 3
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DAISY YEUNG
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
AND CHAIRPERSON

Executive Director and Chairperson
Daisy Yeung, aged 59, joined the Group in January 1996. She 
is the Chairperson of the Board and Managing Director as well 
as the Chief Executive Officer of the Group. Ms. Yeung is the 
Chairperson of the Executive Committee as well as a member 
of the Nomination Committee of the Company. She is also 
a director of a subsidiary of the Company and a responsible 
officer under the Securities and Future Ordinance of various 
subsidiaries, namely Emperor Securities Limited, Emperor Futures 
Limited, Emperor Wealth Management Limited and Emperor Asset 
Management Limited. Moreover, Ms. Yeung is now the Permanent 
Honorable President and a Director of The Institute of Securities 
Dealers, the Vice Chairperson of the General Committee of The 
Chamber of Hong Kong Listed Companies, a member of the 
Advisory Committee of the Accounting and Financial Reporting 
Council and a member of the Market Development Committee of 
Financial Services Development Council. She has accumulated 
over 28 years of management experience in financial industry and 
has been active in driving the development of the local securities 
industry. Ms. Yeung holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Science in 
Business Administration.

59 1996 1

2 8
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Executive Directors
Fan Man Seung, Vanessa, aged 61, joined the Group in December 
2022. She is an Executive Director of the Company, the Chairperson 
of the Corporate Governance Committee as well as a member of 
the Executive Committee and the Renumeration Committee* of the 
Company. Ms. Fan has over 35 years of corporate management 
experience in diversified businesses ranging from financial and 
securities services, property investment and development, hotel 
and hospitality, retailing of watch and jewellery, wholesaling 
and retailing of furniture, cinema development and operation to 
entertainment production and investment, artiste management 
as well as media and publication. Ms. Fan is currently a director 
of Emperor International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 163) 
(“Emperor International”), Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 
(Stock Code: 296) (“Emperor E Hotel”), Emperor Watch & Jewellery 
Limited (Stock Code: 887) (“Emperor W&J”), Emperor Culture 
Group Limited (Stock Code: 491) (“Emperor Culture”), Ulferts 
International Limited (Stock Code: 1711) (“Ulferts”) and New 
Media Lab Limited (Stock Code: 1284) (“New Media Lab”), all 
being listed members of Emperor Group. She is a lawyer by 
profession in Hong Kong and a qualified accountant, and holds a 
Master’s Degree in Business Administration.

Wong Chi Fai, aged 68, joined the Group in December 2022. 
He is an Executive Director and a member of the Executive 
Committee of the Company. Mr. Wong has over 30 years of 
finance and management experience in different businesses 
ranging from financial and securities services, property 
investment and development, hotel and hospitality, retailing of 
watch and jewellery, wholesaling and retailing of furniture, cinema 
development and operation to entertainment production and 
investment, artiste management as well as media and publication. 
He is currently a director of Emperor International, Emperor E 
Hotel, Emperor W&J, Emperor Culture, Ulferts and New Media 
Lab, all being listed members of Emperor Group. Mr. Wong is a 
Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants and a fellow of the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants.

* Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa was appointed as a member of the 
Renumeration Committee in place of Mr. Wong Chi Fai with effect from 
1 January 2025.
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Independent Non-executive Directors
Wong Tak Ming, Gary, aged 49, joined the Board in February 2022. 
He is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee as well as a 
member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee 
of the Company. He now runs a professional accountancy firm 
in Hong Kong and has over 20 years of experience in the field 
of auditing and accounting. Mr. Wong was an independent non-
executive director of Emperor International from August 2013 
to August 2022. He is a certified public accountant (practising), 
a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
in England and Wales, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants and The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Yu King Tin, aged 58, joined the Board in February 2023. He is 
the Chairman of the Audit Committee as well as a member of 
the Remuneration Committee and the Corporate Governance 
Committee of the Company. Mr. Yu has worked in various 
organizations including international certified public accountants 
firms and listed companies in Hong Kong. He is currently one 
of the senior management in the finance department of a 
conglomerate in Hong Kong. Mr. Yu was an independent non-
executive director of Emperor E Hotel from August 2013 to 
August 2022. Mr. Yu graduated from the Peking University with 
a Bachelor’s Degree in Law and The Hong Kong Polytechnic 
University with a Master’s Degree in Corporate Finance. Mr. Yu 
is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of 
Chartered Certified Accountants, a Certified Tax Advisor and a 
member of the Society of Registered Financial Planner.

Chan Sim Ling, Irene, aged 62 joined the Board in February 
2024. She is the Chairperson of the Nomination Committee as 
well as a member of the Audit Committee and the Corporate 
Governance Committee of the Company. Ms. Chan is a retired 
solicitor and with over 20 years of experience as independent non-
executive director of various listed companies. She is currently 
an independent non-executive director of Chinlink International 
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 997), Emperor Culture and Emperor 
W&J, all being listed companies in Hong Kong. Ms. Irene Chan 
graduated from The University of Hong Kong with Bachelor’s 
Degree in Laws.
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The Directors present this annual report and the audited 
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

Principal Activities
The Company is an investment holding company. The Group 
is principally engaged in the provision of financial services, 
including (i) wealth solutions covering global investment, wealth 
management and asset management services; (ii) financing 
covering provision of margin financing and money lending 
services; and (iii) corporate finance advisory services. Details of 
the principal activities and other particulars of the Company’s 
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 34 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Results and Dividends
The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on 
page 68 of this annual report.

No interim dividend (2023: Nil) was paid during the Year and the 
Board did not recommend any payment of a final dividend for the 
Year (2023: Nil).

Business Review and Performance
A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion and analysis 
of the Group’s performance during the Year and an analysis of 
the likely future development of the Group’s business are set 
out in the Management Discussion and Analysis from pages 
5 to 13 of this annual report. Description of the principal risks 
and uncertainties facing the Group are set out in the Corporate 
Governance Report from pages 31 to 59 of this annual report 
and notes 36 and 38 to the consolidated financial statements 
respectively.

Save as disclosed in the Management Discussion and Analysis, 
there is no important event affecting the Group that had occurred 
since the end of the Year up to the date of this annual report.

In addition, an analysis of the Group’s performance during the 
Year using financial key performance indicators is provided in 
the Five-year Financial Summary on page 162. Discussion on the 
Group’s environmental policies and performance, key relationships 
with the Group’s key stakeholders as well as compliance with 
relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on 
the Company are set out in the 2023/2024 Environmental, Social 
and Governance Report of the Company.

( i )

( i i )
( i i i )

3 4

68

2 0 2 3

2 0 2 3

5 1 3

31 59
3 6 3 8

1 6 2

2023/2024



Emperor Capital Group Limited   
Annual Report 2023 / 2024 18

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

1 6 2

2 9

7 0

2024 9 30

35
102,000,000 2023
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Five-year Financial Summary
A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group 
for the last five financial years is set out on page 162 of this 
annual report.

Share Capital
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during 
the Year are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Reserves
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year 
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on 
page 70 of this annual report.

Distributable Reserves
As at 30 September, 2024, the Company’s reserves available for 
distribution to the shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) 
represented the aggregate of contributed surplus (stated 
as “special reserve” in note 35 to the consolidated financial 
statements) and accumulated loss amounting to approximately 
HK$102.0 million (2023: HK$102.0 million) and HK$250.5 million 
(2023: HK$303.7 million) respectively.

Donations
During the Year, the Group made charitable donations amounting 
to approximately HK$19,500.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s 
Listed Securities
During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries 
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed 
securities (including sale of treasury shares).

Pre-emptive Rights
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the 
Company’s Bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige 
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing 
Shareholders.

Equity-linked Agreements
Other than the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 
26 January 2017 (“Share Option Scheme”) as set out in note 30 to 
the consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreement 
was entered into by the Company during the Year or subsisted at 
the end of the Year.
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Property and Equipment
During the Year, the Group acquired property and equipment at a 
cost of approximately HK$4.1 million.

Details of changes in the property and equipment of the Group 
are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

Major Customers and Suppliers
During the Year, the aggregate amount of turnover attributable to 
the Group’s five largest customers accounted for 23% (2023: 6%) 
of the Group’s total turnover. The largest customer accounted for 
8% (2023: 2%) of the Group’s total turnover.

None of the Directors, their close associates or Shareholders 
(who to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of 
the Company’s issued shares (excluding treasury shares)) had a 
beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers.

The Group had no major supplier due to the nature of principal 
activities of the Group.

Directors
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual 
report were:

Executive Directors:
Ms. Daisy Yeung (Chairperson)
Ms. Fan Man Seung Vanessa
Mr. Wong Chi Fai

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Wong Tak Ming, Gary
Mr. Yu King Tin
Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene (appointed on 27 February 2024)
Ms. Wan Choi Ha (retired on 27 February 2024)

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management as 
at the date of this annual report are set out from pages 14 to 16 
of this annual report. Details of Directors’ remuneration are set 
out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

In accordance with Bye-laws 84(1) and 84(2) of the Company’s 
Bye-laws, Ms. Daisy Yeung and Mr. Yu King Tin (“Mr. David Yu”) 
shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting 
(“2025 AGM”). Ms. Daisy Yeung and Mr. David Yu, being eligible, 
offer themselves for re-election.

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at the 
2025 AGM has an unexpired service contract with the Group 
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without 
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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Management Contracts
No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the 
management and administration of the whole or any substantial 
part of the Group’s business were entered into or existed during 
the Year.

Permitted Indemnity Provisions
During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, the 
Company has in force the permitted indemnity provisions which 
are provided for in the Company’s Bye-laws and in the directors 
and officers liability insurance maintained for the Group in respect 
of potential liability and costs associated with legal proceedings 
that may be brought against the Directors and the directors of 
the Group respectively.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in 
Securities
As at 30 September 2024, the interests and short positions 
of the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the 
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and 
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of 
the SFO) as recorded in the register maintained by the Company 
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to 
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model 
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors adopted by the 
Company (“ECG Securities Code”) were as follows:

Long position interests in the Company
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company (“Shares”)

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interests

Number 
of Shares 

interested

Approximate %
 of issued 

voting Shares

%

Ms. Daisy Yeung Eligible beneficiary of a private 
discretionary trust

2,879,521,438 
(Note)

42.72

Beneficial owner 18,000,000 0.26

Note: These Shares were held by Emperor Capital Group Holdings Limited, a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of Albert Yeung Capital Holdings Limited (“AY 
Capital Holdings”). AY Capital Holdings was in turn held by First Board 
Services AG (“First Board Services”) in trust for a private discretionary 
trust of which Ms. Daisy Yeung was one of the eligible beneficiaries.

2 0 2 4 9 3 0

X V

3 5 2

0 . 0 1

 

First 
Board Services AG First Board Services
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Save as disclosed above, as at 30 September 2024, none of the 
Directors or chief executives of the Company had any interests or 
short positions in any shares, underlying shares and debentures 
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the 
meaning of Part XV of the SFO).

Share Options
The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme, details 
of which are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial 
statements. No share option was granted, exercised, cancelled or 
lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption.

The number of share options available for grant under the Share 
Option Scheme was 674,084,572 as at the beginning and the end 
of the Year.

Arrangements to Purchase Shares or Debentures
Other than the Share Option Scheme as stated above, at the end 
of the Year and at no time during the Year was the Company, 
any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries 
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors or chief 
executives of the Company or their spouses or children under 
18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition 
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body 
corporate.

Other Persons’ Interests in Shares and 
Underlying Shares
So far as is known to any Directors or chief executives of the 
Company, as at 30 September 2024, the persons or corporations 
(other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) who 
had, or were deemed or taken to have interests or short positions 
in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register 
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO (“DI Register”) 
were as follows:

Long position in the Shares

Names Capacity/Nature of interests

Number 
of Shares 

interested

Approximate % 
of issued 

voting Shares

%

AY Capital Holdings Interest in a controlled corporation 2,879,521,438 
(Note)

42.72

First Board Services Trustee of a private discretionary trust 2,879,521,438 
(Note)

42.72

2024 9 30

X V

3 0

6 7 4 , 0 8 4 , 5 7 2
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2 0 2 4 9 3 0

3 3 6
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Names Capacity/Nature of interests

Number 
of Shares 

interested

Approximate % 
of issued 

voting Shares

%

Dr. Yeung Sau Shing, Albert 
(“Dr. Yeung”)

Founder of a private discretionary trust 2,879,521,438 
(Note)

42.72

Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon 
(“Ms. Semon Luk”)

Interest of spouse 2,879,521,438 
(Note)

42.72

Taiping Assets Management 
(HK) Company Limited

Investment Manager 612,900,000 9.09

Taiping Trustees Limited Trustee 612,900,000 9.09

Note: These Shares were the same Shares of which Ms. Daisy Yeung had 
deemed interests as those set out under the section of “Directors’ and 
Chief Executives’ Interests in Securities” above. By virtue of being the 
spouse of Dr. Yeung, Ms. Semon Luk had deemed interests in the same 
Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 September 2024, the Directors 
or chief executives of the Company were not aware of any 
person or corporation (other than a Director or chief executive 
of the Company) who had, or were deemed or taken to have, any 
interests or short positions in any Shares or underlying Shares 
as recorded in DI Register.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business
As at 30 September 2024, none of the Directors or their respective 
associates was interested in any business which was considered 
to compete or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, 
with the business of the Group as required to be disclosed 
pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the 
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”).

 

2024 9 30

2 0 2 4 9 3 0
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Directors’ Material Interests in Transactions, 
Arrangements or Contracts and Connected 
Transactions
During the Year, the Group had the following transactions with 
connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the 
Company and a Director had material interests, directly or 
indirectly, in such transactions:

Continuing Connected Transactions
1. Continuing Connected Transactions – 2020 Master Leasing 

Agreement (“2020 MLA”) and 2024 Master Leasing 
Agreement (“2024 MLA”)

Date: 2020 MLA: 3 December 2020

2024 MLA: 23 March 2023

Parties: (1) The Company
(2) Emperor International

Term: 2020 MLA: From 1 April 2021 to 31 March 
2024

2024 MLA: From 1 April 2024 to 31 March 
2027

Nature: The 2020 MLA and the 2024 MLA set out 
the framework of the terms governing 
all existing and future tenancy/licensing 
transaction(s) (“Tenancy Transaction(s)”) 
regarding leasing of certain office properties 
or other properties (including signage or 
signboard space) from Emperor International 
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred 
to as “Emperor International Group”) with 
aggregate tenancy annual caps being set 
for (i) the six months ended 30 September 
2021, each of the financial years ended 
30 September 2022 and 2023 and the six 
months ended 31 March 2024; and (2) the 
six months ended 30 September 2024, each 
of the financial years ending 30 September 
2025 and 2026 and the six months ending 
31 March 2027.

1 .  – 2 0 2 0
2 0 2 0 2 0 2 4

2 0 2 4

2 0 2 0  
2 0 2 0 1 2 3
2 0 2 4  
2 0 2 3 3 2 3

( 1 )  
( 2 )  

2 0 2 0
2021 4 1 2024

3 3 1
2 0 2 4
2024 4 1 2027

3 3 1

2 0 2 0
2 0 2 4

( i ) 2 0 2 1
9 3 0
2 0 2 2 2 0 2 3 9

3 0
2 0 2 4 3 3 1

( 2 )
2 0 2 4 9 3 0

2 0 2 5 2 0 2 6
9 3 0

2 0 2 7 3 3 1



Emperor Capital Group Limited   
Annual Report 2023 / 2024 24

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Pursuant to the 2020 MLA and the 2024 
MLA, relevant members of the Group and the 
relevant members of Emperor International 
Group may from time to time enter into any 
definitive leasing agreement(s) in relation 
to any Tenancy Transactions (“Definitive 
Leasing Agreement(s)”). The terms of 
each Definitive Leasing Agreement shall 
be on normal commercial terms or on 
terms which are no less favorable to the 
Group than terms offered by independent 
third parties. The terms and rental shall be 
subject to arm’s length negotiation and be 
determined based on the condition of the 
properties and with reference to the then 
prevailing market rents on property(ies) 
comparable in location, area and permitted 
use.

Connected 
relationship 
and Director’s 
interests:

As the Company and Emperor International 
were both indirectly controlled by the 
respective private discretionary trusts 
founded by Dr. Yeung, Emperor International 
was a deemed connected person of the 
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing 
Rules. Ms. Daisy Yeung, had deemed 
interest in the transactions by virtue of 
being one of the eligible beneficiaries of 
the relevant private discretionary trust 
controlling Emperor International.

Announcements: 2020 MLA: 3 December 2020

2024 MLA: 8 December 2023

Aggregate 
amounts:

The aggregate right-of-use amount and 
rental expense amount of the Tenancy 
Transactions with Emperor International 
Group for the six months ended 31 March 
2024 under the 2020 MLA were nil and 
HK$15,000 respectively. The amounts 
did not exceed the approved right-of-use 
annual cap of HK$5,000,000 and rental 
expense annual cap of HK$5,000,000 for 
the relevant period.

2 0 2 0
2 0 2 4

1 4 A

2 0 2 0  
2 0 2 0 1 2 3
2 0 2 4  
2 0 2 3 1 2 8

2020
2 0 2 4 3 3 1

15 ,000

5 ,000 ,000
5 ,000 ,000
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2024
2 0 2 4 4 1

2 0 2 4 9 3 0

6 7 , 3 8 1

5 ,000 ,000
5 ,000 ,000

2 .  

2 0 2 1 6 2 2

( 1 )  
( 2 )  

2 0 2 1 1 0 1
2 0 2 4 9 3 0

( i )
( i i )

( i i i )
( i v )

( v )

The aggregate right-of-use amount and 
rental expense amount of the Tenancy 
Transactions with Emperor International 
Group for the six months from 1 April 
2024 to 30 September 2024 under the 
2024 MLA were ni l  and HK$67,381 
respectively.  The amounts did not 
exceed the approved right-of-use annual 
cap of HK$5,000,000 and rental expense 
annual cap of HK$5,000,000 for the 
relevant period.

2. Financial Services Agreement with the Listed Members of 
Emperor Group (“Emperor Group FSA”)

Date: 22 June 2021

Parties: (1) The Company
(2) Emperor International, Emperor E 

Hotel, Emperor W&J, Emperor Culture 
and Ulferts (collectively “Listed 
Members of Emperor Group”)

Term: From 1 October 2021 to 30 September 
2024

Nature: Under the Emperor Group FSA, the Group 
has agreed to provide to the Listed 
Members of Emperor Group (i) brokerage 
services for securities, futures and options 
trading; (ii) wealth management and 
asset management services; (iii) placing 
and underwriting services; (iv) financing 
services including margin loans, IPO 
loans and terms loans; and (v) financial 
advisory service on normal commercial 
terms with reference to the market price 
no less favourable to the Group than those 
available to independent third parties.

Connected 
relationship 
and Director’s 
interests:

Ms. Daisy Yeung had deemed interest in 
this agreement by virtue of being one of 
the eligible beneficiaries of the respective 
private discretionary trusts controlling the 
Listed Members of Emperor Group.
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2 0 2 1 6 2 2

2 0 2 1 8 3 1

2 0 2 1 9 2 7

Announcement: 22 June 2021

Circular: 31 August 2021

Independent 
Shareholders’ 
approval:

27 September 2021

Aggregate 
Amount: Nature of transaction

Amount for 
the Year

HK$’000

(a) Commission, brokerage and fees and interest income from 
the Listed Members of Emperor Group

 

–

(b) Maximum margin loan amount to the Listed Members of 
Emperor Group*

 *

–

(c) Maximum IPO loan amount to the Listed Members of 
Emperor Group*

 *

–

(d) Maximum term loan amount to the Listed Members of 
Emperor Group*

 *

–

(e) Financial advisory fee from the Listed Members of Emperor 
Group

 

4,156

* The maximum amount granted during the Year
 

Remarks: 1. With the expiration of the Emperor Group FSA, the Company entered into new financial 
services agreement with the Listed Members of Emperor Group (including New Media 
Lab which has been a listed company since 17 July 2023) on 1 December 2023. 

2023 12 1
2023 7 17

2. The above aggregate amounts did not exceed the approved annual caps under the 
Emperor Group FSA.
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3 .  

2 0 2 1 6 2 2

( 1 )  
( 2 )  

2 0 2 1 1 0 1
2 0 2 4 9 3 0

( i )

( i i )
( i i i )

( i v )

(1)

(2)

2 0 2 1 6 2 2

2 0 2 1 8 3 1

2 0 2 1 9 2 7

3. Financial Services Agreement with Ms. Daisy Yeung for the 
Yeung Family (“Yeung FSA”)

Date: 22 June 2021

Parties: (1) The Company
(2) Ms. Daisy Yeung

Term: From 1 October 2021 to 30 September 
2024

Nature: Under the Yeung FSA, the Group has 
agreed to provide to members of the 
Yeung Family (i.e. Ms. Daisy Yeung and 
her associates but excluding the Listed 
Members of Emperor Group) (i) brokerage 
services for securities, futures and options 
trading; (ii) wealth management and asset 
management services; (ii i) financing 
services including margin loans, IPO loans 
and term loans; and (iv) financial advisory 
services. The Group has also agreed to pay 
commission and fee to the Yeung Family, 
including (1) the commission and fee for 
their acting as placees or underwriters for 
the securities of the Company or for the 
securities underwritten or placed by the 
Group; and (2) referral fee for introducing 
clients to the Group relating to the Group’s 
business. The terms are on normal 
commercial terms with reference to the 
market price no less favourable to the 
Group than those available to independent 
third parties.

Connected 
relationship 
and Director’s 
interests:

Ms. Daisy Yeung had deemed interest in 
this agreement by virtue of being one of 
the members of the Yeung Family.

Announcement: 22 June 2021

Circular: 31 August 2021

Independent 
Shareholders’ 
approval:

27 September 2021
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Aggregate 
Amount: Nature of transaction

Amount for 
the Year

HK$’000

(a) Commission, brokerage, fees and interest income from the 
Yeung Family

 

2,095

(b) Maximum margin loan amount to the Yeung Family*
 *

15,937

(c) Maximum IPO loan amount to the Yeung Family*
 *

–

(d) Maximum term loan amount to the Yeung Family*
 *

–

(e) Financial advisory fee from the Yeung Family
 

–

(f) Commission and fee to the Yeung Family for their services 
being provided to the Group

 

–

* The maximum amount granted during the Year
 

Remarks: 1. With the expiration of the Yeung FSA, the Company entered into new financial 
services agreement with Ms. Daisy Yeung on 1 December 2023.

2023 12 1

2. The above aggregate amounts did not exceed the approved annual caps under the 
Yeung FSA.

Compliance with Disclosure Requirements
Regarding the related party transactions as set out in note 33 to 
the consolidated financial statements, the transactions as shown 
in items i, iii to iv, viii and ix are non-exempt continuing connected 
transactions (“CCTs”) of the Company and the Company has 
complied with the relevant disclosure requirements under Chapter 
14A of the Listing Rules. All other transactions as shown in 
the said note are connected transactions exempted from all 
disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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3000

7 4 0

14A.56

14A.55

( i )  

( i i )  

( i i i )  

Independent Auditor’s Letter on Non-exempt 
CCTs
The Company’s independent auditor was engaged to report on 
the non-exempt CCTs of the Group in accordance with Hong Kong 
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance 
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial 
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) 
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the 
Hong Kong Listing Rules” (“Auditor’s Letter”) issued by the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The independent auditor issued an unqualified conclusion in 
respect of the non-exempt CCTs of the Group in accordance with 
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Confirmation of Independent Non-executive 
Directors on Non-exempt CCTs
Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the INEDs reviewed 
the non-exempt CCTs and the Auditor’s Letter and confirmed that 
these transactions had been entered into by the Group:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(ii) on normal commercial terms or better (as the case may be); 
and

(iii) according to the respective agreements governing them on 
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the 
Shareholders as a whole.

Save as disclosed above, there was no transaction, arrangement 
or contract which was significant in relation to the Group’s 
business to which the Company or any of its holding companies, 
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which 
a Director or his/her connected entity had a material interest, 
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or 
at any time during the Year.
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Emolument Policy
The emoluments of the Directors shall be decided by the Board as 
recommended by the Remuneration Committee having regard to a 
written remuneration policy (which ensures a clear link to business 
strategy and a close alignment with the Shareholders’ interest 
and current market best practice). Remuneration should be paid 
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives, the 
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and 
responsibilities of the executive and non-executive Directors, 
internal equity of employment conditions across the Group and 
applicability of performance-based remuneration. The Directors’ 
fees are paid in line with market practice. No individual should 
determine his or her own remuneration.

Employees’ remuneration was determined in accordance with 
individual’s responsibility, competence and skills, experience 
and performance as well as market pay level. Remuneration 
package includes, as the case may be, basic salaries, Directors’ 
fees, housing allowances, contribution to pension schemes, 
discretionary bonus relating to the financial performance of the 
Group and individual performance, ad hoc rewards, share options 
and other competitive fringe benefits such as medical and life 
insurances. Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the 
five highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in notes 11 
and 12 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

Sufficiency of Public Float
Based on the information publicly available to the Company and 
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable 
date prior to the issue of this annual report, there was sufficient 
public float of at least 25% of the Company’s issued Shares as 
required under the Listing Rules.

Independent Auditor
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire and a resolution for 
its re-appointment as independent auditor of the Company will be 
proposed at the 2025 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Daisy Yeung
Chairperson

Hong Kong, 19 December 2024
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The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard 
of corporate governance for the Company so as to ensure 
“Accountability, Responsibility and Transparency” towards the 
Shareholders, investors, employees as well as other stakeholders 
of the Company.

The Directors have adopted various policies to ensure compliance 
with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG 
Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules so as to 
having effective application of the principles of good corporate 
governance. During the Year, the Company complied with the 
code provisions of the CG Code except with the deviation from 
code provision C.2.1 which requires the roles of chairman and 
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be 
performed by the same individual, details of which are set out in 
the paragraph headed “Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer”.

Corporate Culture and Strategy
The Company is committed to cultivating a corporate culture, 
focusing on four pillars, namely customer centricity, excellence 
in products and services, people first and positivity, which is 
underpinned by its purpose and values that enable employees 
at all levels of the Group to thrive and meet their full potentials 
by acting in a lawful, ethical and responsible manner that allows 
the Company to deliver sustainable long-term performance and 
operate in a way that benefits society and the environment.

The Company’s purpose and values serve as a guide for 
employees’ conduct and behaviours, ensuring that they are 
integrated throughout the Company’s operational practices, 
workplace policies and practices and stakeholder relationships:

Purpose 

To engage and delight our 
stakeholders for success

Emperor’s Values

E thical 
M otivation 
P ursuit of Integrity 
E xcellence 
R esourceful 
O penness 
R esponsible 

C 1

C.2 .1
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The management is responsible for setting the tone and shaping 
the corporate culture of the Company, as well as defining the 
purpose, values and strategic direction of the Group, which are 
under review by the Board. Taking into account the corporate 
culture is reflected in various contexts, such as workforce 
engagement, employee retention and training, legal and regulatory 
compliance, staff safety, wellbeing and support, the culture, 
purpose, values and strategy of the Group are aligned with one 
another.

The Board
The Company is headed by the Board which is responsible for the 
leadership, control and promotion of the success of the Group in 
the interests of the Shareholders by directing and supervising its 
affairs and by formulating strategic directions and monitoring the 
financial and management performance of the Group.

Board Composition and Diversity
The Board currently comprises six Directors, with three Executive 
Directors and three INEDs. Names and biographical details of the 
members of the Board are set out on pages 14 to 16 of this annual 
report under “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” 
section. All of them possess the skills, experience and expertise 
either in the same industry or relevant to the management of the 
business of the Group.

To ensure independent views and input are available to the Board, 
the following mechanisms were established:

 sufficient number of INEDs in a total of three, representing 
more than one-third of the Board;

 no INED has served the Board for more than 9 years; and

 annual meeting between the Chairperson and all INEDs 
without presence of other Directors provides an effective 
platform for the Chairperson to listen to independent views 
on various issues concerning the Group.

During the Year, the Board reviewed the implementation of these 
mechanisms and determined that they remain effective.
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( i )  

The Company also adopted the Board Diversity Policy setting out 
the approach to achieve a diverse Board with a balance of skills, 
experience and diversity of perspectives to the business nature 
of the Company. In designing the Board’s composition, Board 
diversity has been considered from a wide range of aspects, 
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational 
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge 
and length of service, and any other factors that the Board may 
consider relevant and applicable from time to time. The merits 
and contribution that will bring to the Board for any Director 
proposed for re-election or any candidate nominated to be 
Director will also be assessed, taking into account the Company’s 
corporate strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge, experience 
and diversity needed in the future.

The current Board composition reflects a diverse mix of 
educational background, professional knowledge, industry 
experience and length of service. The diversity mix of the Board 
as at 30 September 2024 is summarized as follows:

(i) Board Composition, Gender Distribution, Age Distribution 
and Length of Service
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(ii) Directors’ Skills and Experience

Areas of Experience
Number of 

Directors
Share of the 

Board

Related Industry Knowledge/Experience 4 67%

Business Management 3 50%

Legal/Regulatory 2 33%

Financial & Accounting 4 67%

Strategic Planning & Risk Management 6 100%

    

The Board’s gender diversity level is relatively high compared 
to other companies listed on the Stock Exchange, with 
three female directors out of six (50%). During the Year, 
the Nomination Committee recommended and the Board 
approved to keep a target of having no less than 25% female 
directors on the Board. The Nomination Committee was 
of the view that the current gender diversity of the Board 
was appropriate, balanced and exceeding the target set. 
Therefore, no timeline or plan was proposed for further 
enhancing the gender diversity target of the Board for 
the time being. The Nomination Committee will continue 
reviewing the composition of the Board to maintain diversity.

As at 30 September 2024, our total workforce comprised 
of 44% female and 56% male, whereas senior management 
comprised of 50% female and 50% male. The current gender 
diversity of workforce was appropriate taking into account 
the business models and operational needs.

The term of appointment of the INEDs is subject to retirement 
by rotation and re-election provisions under the bye-laws of 
the Company and the Listing Rules. Based on the annual 
review conducted by the Nomination Committee, the Board 
considered each of them to be independent with reference 
to the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

( i i )  

5 0 %

2 5 %

2 0 2 4 9 3 0
4 4 % 5 6 %

5 0 % 5 0 %

3 . 1 3
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Board Process
Other than regular Board meetings held during the Year, additional 
Board meetings, or meetings of Board committees established 
by the Board to consider specific matters, were convened, when 
necessary.

The attendance of the Directors at the meetings during the Year 
is set out below:

No. of meetings attended/held

 

Name of Directors Board
Audit 

Committee
Remuneration 

Committee
Nomination 
Committee

Corporate 
Governance 
Committee

Executive 
Committee

General 
Meeting

Executive Directors

Ms. Daisy Yeung 5/5 (C) – – 1/1 – 8/8 (C) 1/1

Mr. Wong Chi Fai 5/5 – 1/1 – – 8/8 1/1

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa 5/5 – – – 1/1 (C) 8/8 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Tak Ming, Gary 5/5 3/3 1/1 (C) 1/1 – – 1/1

Mr. Yu King Tin 5/5 3/3 (C) 1/1 – 1/1 – 1/1

Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene (Note 1) 2/2 2/2 – – (C) – – –
1

Ms. Wan Choi Ha (Note 2) 3/3 1/1 – 1/1 (C) 1/1 – 1/1
2        

Total number of meeting(s) held: 5 3 1 1 1 8 1

        

C: Chairperson/Chairman of the Board/Committee

Notes:

1. Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene was elected as a Director at the 2024 annual 
general meeting (“2024 AGM”) and was appointed as the Chairperson 
of the Nomination Committee, a member of the Audit Committee and 
the Corporate Governance Committee on the same day.

2. Ms. Wan Choi Ha retired as a Director at the 2024 AGM and automatically 
ceased to act as the Chairperson of the Nomination Committee, 
a member of the Audit Committee and the Corporate Governance 
Committee on the same day.

C  

1. 2024 2024

2. 2024
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During the Year, the Chairperson held a meeting with INEDs 
without the presence of Executive Directors in compliance with 
code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code.

The Company received biannual confirmation from each Director 
that he/she has given sufficient time and attention to the affairs 
of the Company during the Year. Directors also disclosed to 
the Company the changes, if any, in the number and nature 
of offices they held in public companies or organizations and 
other significant commitment, including the identity of the 
public companies or organizations and an indication of the time 
involved.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
According to code provision C.2.1, the roles of chairman and 
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be 
performed by the same individual. Ms. Daisy Yeung serves as 
the Chairperson of the Board as well as the Chief Executive 
Officer of the Group. Ms. Daisy Yeung has extensive management 
experience in financial industry. The Board considers that the 
combination of the roles of Chairperson and Chief Executive 
Officer can promote the efficient formulation and implementation 
of the Company’s strategies to grasp business opportunities 
efficiently and effectively. The Board believes that the balance 
of power and authority of the Board is adequately ensured by 
the current Board which comprises experienced and high calibre 
individuals, with half of them being INEDs, and the independent 
mechanism.

Board Proceedings
Ms. Daisy Yeung sets the agenda for the Board and ensures 
that members of the Board receive accurate, timely and clear 
information, and that matters to be taken into consideration are 
given their due weight, so that sound decisions can be made. 
With the assistance of the Company Secretary, the Chairperson 
ensures that the Board properly exercises its powers, holds its 
meetings and implements procedures in compliance with all rules 
and requirements, and full and proper records are maintained.

If a Director has conflict of interest in a matter to be considered 
by the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the 
matter will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting rather than 
a written resolution. That Director will abstain from voting on the 
relevant Board resolution and he/she shall not be counted in the 
quorum present at such Board meeting.

C .2 .7

C . 2 . 1
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Procedures are also put in place for each Director to have access 
to supporting papers and relevant information for each scheduled 
meeting. All Directors also have access to the services of the 
Company Secretary and her team, and may take independent 
professional advice upon request, at the Company’s expense.

Induction and Training for Directors
Newly appointed Directors will receive a comprehensive, 
formal and tailored induction on appointment. Besides, the 
Company provides Directors with regular updates on changes 
to and developments of the Group’s business, and on the latest 
developments in the laws, rules and regulations relating to 
Directors’ duties and responsibilities to help them make informed 
decisions and discharge their duties and responsibilities as 
Directors.

In compliance with Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules, Ms. Chan Sim 
Ling, Irene, who was appointed as INED on 27 February 2024, 
received training and legal advice on 22 February 2024 and she 
confirmed that she understood her obligations as Director. During 
the Year, each Director participated in continuous professional 
development by attending seminars/workshops/reading materials 
on the following topics to develop and refresh their knowledge 
and skills and provided a record of training to the Company:

Name of Directors Topics on training covered

Ms. Daisy Yeung (1) corporate governance
 

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa (2) finance
 

Mr. Wong Chi Fai (3) industry specific
 

Mr. Wong Tak Ming, Gary (4) regulatory
 

Mr. Yu King Tin

Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene (appointed on 27 February 2024)
2024 2 27

Ms. Wan Choi Ha (retired on 27 February 2024)
2024 2 27

3 . 0 9 D 2 0 2 4 2
2 7

2024 2 22
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Board Committees
To assist the Board in execution of its duties and facilitate 
effective management, certain functions of the Board have 
been delegated by the Board to the Executive Committee, Audit 
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee 
and Corporate Governance Committee. Clear written terms of 
reference of all Board Committees are given to the respective 
members of these Committees.

1. Executive Committee
The Executive Committee consists of all Executive Directors, 
namely Ms. Daisy Yeung (Chairperson of the Committee), 
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa and Mr. Wong Chi Fai. It has 
all powers and authorities of the Board except the following 
major matters as set out in a “Formal Schedule on matters 
reserved for and delegated by the Board”:

• determining the Group’s objectives and strategies;

• approving annual and interim results and financial 
reporting;

• declaring or recommending payment of dividends or 
other distributions;

• approving major changes that require notification by 
announcement under the Listing Rules;

• approving publication of announcements for notifiable 
transactions (except for discloseable transactions in 
relation to lease transactions recognizing the right-of 
use asset according to HKFRS 16 “Leases”) under the 
Listing Rules;

• approving non-exempt connected transactions/non-
exempt CCTs (other than those transactions took place 
from time to time under the master agreement(s) 
previously approved by the Board/Shareholders (as the 
case may be)) under the Listing Rules; and

• approving major capital restructuring and issue of new 
securities of the Company.

1 .  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

16

•  

•  
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To advise and assist the Executive Committee on the 
formulation and implementation of the environment, 
social and governance (“ESG”) initiatives of the Group, a 
sub-committee under the Executive Committee known 
as the ESG Committee was set up. The ESG Committee 
consists of representatives from operations and supporting 
departments and the Executive Committee. It has the powers 
and authorities as delegated by the Executive Committee 
to formulate and execute relevant ESG action plan, and 
assess and make recommendations on matters concerning 
the Group’s sustainability development and ESG risks and 
opportunities.

2. Audit Committee
The Audit Committee consists of three INEDs, namely Mr. Yu 
King Tin (Chairman of the Committee), Mr. Wong Tak Ming, 
Gary and Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are set 
out in its terms of reference which include duties specified 
in the CG Code and are posted on the websites of the Stock 
Exchange and the Company.

A summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee 
during the Year is set out as follows:

i. reviewed with the management/finance personnel and/
or the external auditor the effectiveness of audit process 
and the accounting principles and practices adopted by 
the Group, and the accuracy and fairness of the annual 
consolidated financial statements for the financial year 
ended 30 September 2023 (“Previous Year”) and the 
interim consolidated financial statements for the six 
months ended 31 March 2024;

ii. reviewed with the senior management and finance 
personnel the effectiveness of the risk management and 
internal control systems of the Group for the Previous 
Year;

iii. performed an annual review of the non-exempt CCTs of 
the Group for the Previous Year;

iv. recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of 
independent auditor at the 2024 AGM;

v. reviewed the audit fees and the fees for non-audit 
services payable to the independent auditor;

2 .  

i .  

2023 9 30

2024 3 31

i i .  

i i i .  

iv.  2024

v.  
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vi. reviewed the independence of the independent auditor 
and approved its engagement;

vii. approved the audit plan for the Year;

viii. reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications 
and experience, training programmes and budget of the 
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting 
function; and

ix. recommended the Board on the formal adoption of policy 
on use of external auditor for non-audit services of the 
Company.

3. Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, 
namely Mr. Wong Tak Ming, Gary (Chairman of the Committee) 
and Mr. Yu King Tin, both being INEDs, and Mr. Wong Chi Fai, 
being an Executive Director.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration 
Committee are set out in its terms of reference which 
include duties specified in the CG Code and are posted on 
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

A summary of the work performed by the Remuneration 
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

i. reviewed the Directors’ fees and made recommendation 
to the Board; and

ii. reviewed the current remuneration structure/package 
of the Executive Directors and senior management 
and recommended the Board to approve their specific 
packages.

Before making recommendation to the Board, the 
Remuneration Committee has reviewed and assessed the 
remuneration package of the Directors with reference to the 
Group’s operating results, duties and level of responsibility 
of the Directors and the prevailing market conditions. Details 
of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the Year are 
set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

4. Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee consists of three members, 
namely Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene (Chairperson of the 
Committee) and Mr. Wong Tak Ming, Gary, both being INEDs, 
and Ms. Daisy Yeung, being an Executive Director.

v i .  

v i i .  

v i i i .  

i x .  

3 .  

i .  

i i .  

1 1

4 .  
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The major roles and functions of the Nomination Committee 
are set out in its terms of reference which include duties 
specified in the CG Code and are posted on the websites of 
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for formulating 
policy and making recommendations to the Board on 
nomination, appointment and re-appointment of Directors, 
and Board succession pursuant to the Nomination Policy 
adopted by the Company.

The Nomination Policy aims at assisting the Nomination 
Committee in identifying and nominating suitable candidates 
for directorship based on the Board Diversity Policy and sets 
out the nomination criteria and the nomination procedures 
for (i) nominating new Director to fill a casual vacancy on 
the Board; (ii) making recommendation to Directors and 
Shareholders regarding any Director proposed for election 
or re-election at general meeting; and (iii) nomination by 
Shareholders on election of new Director.

The Nomination Committee may identify potential candidates 
from any source as it may consider appropriate and 
evaluate them by considering various factors, including their 
professional expertise, industry and business experience, 
time commitments, potential contributions to board diversity, 
material conflict of interest with the Group (if any) and 
independence (for INEDs). The Committee will then make 
recommendation of suitable candidates to the Board for 
consideration of appointment. In case of reappointment 
of existing Directors who will retire at an annual general 
meeting (“AGM”), the Committee will review the retirement 
of Directors and make recommendations to the Board 
accordingly.

A summary of the work performed by the Nomination 
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

i. reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity 
of the Board;

ii. reviewed the Board Diversity Policy;

iii. reviewed the mechanisms implemented regarding 
independent views available to the Board;

iv. reviewed the independence of the INEDs;

v. reviewed Directors’ time commitment in performing their 
duties as Directors;

( i )
( i i )

( i i i )

i .  

i i .  

i i i .  

i v.  

v.  
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vi. made recommendation to the Board on the re-election 
of Director at the 2024 AGM;

vii. made recommendation to the Board on nomination 
of Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene as new Director to fill the 
casual vacancy created by the retirement of Ms. Wan 
Choi Ha at the 2024 AGM; and

viii. reviewed the gender diversity target at Board level.

5. Corporate Governance Committee
The Corporate Governance Committee (“CG Committee”) 
consists of five members, namely Ms. Fan Man Seung, 
Vanessa (Chairperson of the Committee), being an Executive 
Director, Mr. Yu King Tin and Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene, both 
being INEDs, a representative from company secretarial 
function and a representative from finance and accounts 
function.

The specific written terms of reference of the CG Committee 
is available on the Company’s website. The primary duties 
of the CG Committee are (i) developing and reviewing the 
policies and practices on corporate governance of the 
Company (“CG Policy”) and making recommendations to 
the Board; (ii) reviewing and monitoring the policies and 
practices of the Company on compliance with legal and 
regulatory requirements; (iii) developing, reviewing and 
monitoring the codes of conduct applicable to Directors 
and relevant employees of the Group regarding dealings 
in the Company’s securities; (iv) reviewing and monitoring 
the training and continuous professional development of 
Directors and senior management; and (v) reviewing the 
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in 
this annual report.

A summary of the work performed by the CG Committee 
during the Year is set out as follows:

i. reviewed the CG Policy;

ii. reviewed the policies and practices on compliance with 
legal and regulatory requirements;

iii. reviewed the training and continuous professional 
development of Directors and senior management;

iv. reviewed the codes of conduct applicable to Directors 
and relevant employees of the Group; and

v. reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code 
and disclosure in Corporate Governance Report.

v i .  2024

v i i .  
2024

v i i i .  

5 .  

( i )

( i i )

( i i i )

( i v )

( v )

i .  

i i .  

i i i .  

i v.  

v.  
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3.29
1 5

C 3

A .  

Company Secretary
During the Year, the Company Secretary, being an employee of 
the Company, duly complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules 
by taking no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

Securities Transactions of Directors
The Company has adopted the ECG Securities Code as its own 
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors 
on no less exacting terms than the required standards as set out 
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules regarding the Model Code for 
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers. Having 
made specific enquiry to all Directors, all of them confirmed that 
they had complied with the required standard of dealings as set 
out in the ECG Securities Code throughout the Year.

Accountability and Audit
Financial Reporting
The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities to prepare 
the annual consolidated financial statements of the Group and 
other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules. The 
management has provided all members of the Board with monthly 
updates on internal consolidated financial statements which 
give a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s 
performance, position and prospects.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the Year, 
the Board adopted appropriate accounting policies and applied 
them consistently, made judgment and estimates that were 
prudent and reasonable and ensured the consolidated financial 
statements were prepared on a “going concern” basis (with 
supporting assumptions or qualifications as necessary) and 
showed a true view of the state of affairs of the Group for 
the Year. The management provided sufficient explanation and 
information to the Board on the consolidated financial statements 
to enable it to make an informed assessment of the financial and 
other information put before it for approval. The independent 
auditor of the Company made a statement about their reporting 
responsibilities in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

Risk Management and Internal Control
A. Goals and Objectives

Internal control is fundamental to the successful operation 
and day-to-day running of a business and it assists a company 
in achieving its business objectives. Internal control policies 
and procedures within the Group are updated regularly with 
the primary objective of providing general guidance and 
recommendations on a basic framework of risk management 
and internal control systems (“Risk Control Systems”).
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The Board is responsible to ensure that the Group establishes 
and maintains appropriate and effective Risk Control 
Systems. Such Risk Control Systems are designed to manage 
rather than eliminate risks of failure to achieve business 
objectives, and can only provide reasonable, but not absolute, 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The key objectives of the Risk Control Systems include:

 safeguarding assets;

 ensuring completeness, accuracy and validity of financial 
records and reports;

 promoting adherence to policies, procedures, regulations 
and laws; and

 promoting effectiveness and efficiency of operations.

A review has been conducted on (i) the Group’s internal 
control measures and procedures covering all material 
controls, including financial, operational and compliance 
controls; and (ii) risk management functions in its principal 
subsidiaries of the Company for the Year.

B. Internal Control
(1) Governance Controls

The control structure of the Risk Control Systems is set 
out as follows:

The Board
 responsible for the overall Risk Control Systems and 

reviewing their effectiveness;

 oversee the Risk Control Systems on an ongoing 
basis with the assistance of the Audit Committee;

 ensure maintenance of appropriate and effective 
Risk Control Systems;

 define management structure with clear lines of 
responsibility and limits of authority; and

 determine the nature and extent of significant risks 
(including the ESG risks) that the Group is willing 
to take in achieving the strategic objectives and 
formulate the Group’s risk management strategies

•  

•  

•  

•  

( i )

( i i )

B .  
( 1 )  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  
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•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

Audit Committee
 review and discuss the Risk Control Systems 

with the management annually to ensure that the 
management has performed its duty to maintain 
effective Risk Control Systems. This discussion 
also includes the adequacy of resources, staff 
qualification and experience, training programmes 
and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit 
and financial reporting function;

 review the nature and extent of significant risks 
(including ESG risks), and the Group’s ability to 
respond to changes in its business and the external 
environment;

 consider major findings on internal control matters 
(if any) raised by internal or independent auditor and 
make recommendations to the Board; and

 review and discuss annually with significant control 
failings or weaknesses that are identified by the 
auditors.

Executive Committee
 with the assistance of the ESG Committee, review 

the effectiveness of ESG-related Risk Control 
Systems and report to the Audit Committee for its 
review.

The management (includes heads of business units, 
departments and divisions)

 design, implement the Risk Control Systems’ 
policies and procedures duly endorsed by senior 
management and the Board;

 monitor the Risk Control Systems properly and 
ensure the Risk Control Systems are executed 
effectively;

 monitor risks and take measures to mitigate risks in 
their day-to-day operations;

 give prompt responses to, and follow up the findings 
on internal control matters raised by internal or 
independent auditors;

 prepare organisation charts to show the reporting 
relationships within the operation and management 
to establish lines of responsibilities; and

 provide confirmation to the Board on the 
effectiveness of the Risk Control Systems.
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•  

•  

•  

( 2 )  

i .  

i i .  

i i i .  

Internal Audit Department
 carry out the analysis and independent appraisal of 

the adequacy and effectiveness of the Risk Control 
Systems in respect of all material controls, including 
financial, operational and compliance aspects;

 alert the management on the audit review findings or 
irregularities and advise them on the implementation 
of necessary steps and actions to enhance the 
internal controls of the Group; and

 report results of internal audit reviews and agreed 
action plans to the Audit Committee and the Board 
on a regular basis.

(2) Operational Controls
The management is responsible for analysing the control 
environment, identifying risks pertaining thereto, and 
implementing various controls therein as follows:

i. Approach taken: The management communicates 
with relevant staff and reviews relevant 
documentation of the Risk Control Systems and 
evaluates findings of any deficiencies in the design 
of the Group’s Risk Control Systems, then provides 
recommendations for improvement and assesses 
the effectiveness of implementation of such 
recommendations, where appropriate. The scope 
and findings of the review on the Risk Control 
Systems will be reported to and reviewed by the 
Audit Committee annually.

ii. Procedure manuals and operational guidelines: 
To safeguard the assets against unauthorized use 
or disposition and ensure maintenance of proper 
accounting records that are in compliance with 
the applicable laws, rules and regulations for the 
provision of reliable financial information for internal 
use and/or external publication.

iii. Management information system and technology: 
To control over the business activities, it allows 
close tracking of various inputs and outputs of 
the Group’s business such as human resources, 
product offerings, lending portfolio and customer 
information. It also tracks audit trails in the 
authorization system, under which permissions and 
responsibility of authorization are clearly identified 
and adequate records can be maintained in the Risk 
Control Systems.
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i v.  

v.  

( 3 )  
i .  

i i .  

i i i .  

i v.  

v.  

v i .  

v i i .  

iv. Information flow: The transparent information flow 
alerts us promptly of any deviations. Benchmarking 
with historical database and comparisons with the 
same also acts as a detecting device for spotting 
unusual activities.

v. Reports and variance analysis: Reports and 
analysis of each operating segment in the upstream, 
midstream and downstream are conducted on a 
regular basis such that the performance of each 
operating segment can be easily accessible.

(3) Financial Controls
i. proper controls are in place for the recording of 

complete, accurate and timely accounting and 
management information;

ii. annual budget and quarterly forecast on all capital 
and revenue items are prepared and approved by the 
management before being adopted;

iii. the management monitors the business activities 
closely and reviews monthly financial results of 
operations against budgets/forecast;

iv. regular reports on revenue, trade receivables’ ageing 
and debtors’ ageing and internal financial reports 
are prepared to the management which give a 
balanced and understandable assessment of the 
Group’s financial performance;

v. monthly updates on internal financial statements 
are provided to all Directors which give a balanced 
and understandable assessment of the Group’s 
performance, financial position and prospects in 
sufficient details;

vi. annual audit by external auditor is carried out to 
ensure that the consolidated financial statements 
are prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, the Group’s accounting 
policies and the applicable laws and regulations; 
and

vii. daily available fund report is reviewed to monitor the 
cash flows against budgets/forecast.
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i .  

i i .  

i i i .  

i v.  

(4) Compliance Controls
The following policies and procedures are in place to 
safeguard the compliance control:

i. Policies and practices on compliance with legal 
and regulatory requirements which shall be 
reviewed and monitored regularly by the Corporate 
Governance Committee as delegated by the Board 
in order to ensure the Group is in compliance with 
all applicable laws, statutes, rules and regulations; 
and to keep up on any legal developments;

ii. Systems and procedures on disclosure of inside 
information to ensure, with the assistance of an 
internal work team (if required), that any material 
information which comes to the knowledge of any 
one or more officers should be promptly identified, 
assessed and escalated, where appropriate, for the 
attention of the Board. The Board shall make timely 
decisions on disclosure, if necessary, and take 
appropriate measures to preserve confidentiality of 
inside information until proper dissemination of the 
inside information;

iii. CCT Compliance Committee is established to 
monitor, control and regularly review connected 
transactions and continuing connected transactions 
of the Group and ensure proper compliance with all 
relevant laws and regulations, the Listing Rules and 
disclosure requirements;

iv. Whistle-blowing policy is established to provide 
reporting channels and guidance for employees and 
related third parties who have business dealings 
with the Group (e.g. customers and suppliers) to 
raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity, about 
any suspected misconduct or malpractice within 
the Group. The Audit Committee, delegated by the 
Board, shall ensure that proper arrangements are in 
place for fair and independent investigation of any 
concerns raised, appropriate follow-up actions are 
taken and other recommendations are provided, if 
thinks fit;
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v.  

v i .  

C .  
( 1 )  

( i )
( i i )

v. Anti-corruption policy is established to outline the 
Group’s zero-tolerance stance against bribery and 
corruption and assists employees in recognising 
circumstances that may lead to or give the 
appearance of being involved in corruption or 
unethical business conduct, so as to avoid such 
conduct which is clearly prohibited, and to promptly 
seek guidance where necessary or report any 
reasonably suspected case of corruption or any 
attempts thereof, to the management through an 
appropriate reporting channel; and

vi. Anti-money laundering and counterterrorist 
financing policy and procedures is established to 
set out the general framework for combating crime 
against money laundering and financing of terrorism. 
It provides guideline to combat money laundering 
and terrorist and help the Group’s employees 
identify and assess clients/customers/suppliers/
vendors/contractors/transactions/activities of high 
risk of money laundering, terrorist financing or other 
financial crime and take appropriate measures and 
actions.

Review of internal control
Effectiveness of internal control is tested by Internal Audit 
Department regularly. Internal audit reviews and agreed action 
plans should be reported to the Audit Committee and the Board 
on a timely basis.

C. Risk Management
(1) Risk Management Process

The risk management process includes risk identification, 
risk evaluation, risk management measures and risk 
control and review.

The management is entrusted with duties to identify, 
analyse, evaluate, respond, monitor and communicate 
risks associated with any activity, function or process 
within its scope of responsibility and authority. Risks are 
evaluated by the Board and management based on (i) the 
severity of the impact of the risks on the Group’s finance 
and operations; and (ii) the probability and frequency that 
the risks will occur.
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( 2 )  

( i )  

Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will manage 
the risk as follows:

• Risk elimination – the management may identify 
and implement certain changes or controls that in 
effect eliminate the risk entirely.

• Risk mitigation – the management may implement 
risk mitigation plan designed to reduce the likelihood 
and impact of the risk to an acceptable level or 
contingency plan for possible loss scenarios.

• Risk control and monitoring – it involves making 
decisions regarding which risks are acceptable and 
how to address those that are not; accidents and 
other situations involving loss or near-loss will be 
investigated and properly documented as part of the 
effort to manage risks.

• Risk retention – the management may decide 
that the risk rating is low enough that the risk is 
acceptable level and no action is required and the 
risk will continue to be monitored as part of the risk 
management program to ensure the level of risk 
does not increase to an unacceptable level.

(2) Significant Risks and Strategies
Certain significant risks have been identified through 
the process of risk identification and assessment. Such 
significant risks of the Group and their respective risk 
levels and key strategies/control measures are set out 
below:

(i) Credit Risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that the borrower or 
counterparty may fail to perform its obligation to 
pay in a timely manner, or that its ability to perform 
such obligation may get impaired before delivery 
date.
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C R C

C R C

2 0 2 4
9 3 0

5 . 4 2 %
1 8 . 5 %

The Credit Committee, the ultimate credit decision-
making organ of the Group, is responsible for 
putting in place credit policies and procedures for 
approving margin financing and lending portfolio as 
well as debt recovery procedures to ensure prompt 
and effective recovery of outstanding debts. The 
Group’s exposure to credit risk lies mainly in two 
areas:

a) Margin financing
The customers’ trading of securities or 
futures may expose the Group to risk arising 
from price volatility which may reduce the 
customers’ ability to meet their obligations. 
The Credit Committee will prescribe from 
time to time the lending limits on individual 
stock or on any individual customer and 
their respective associates by considering 
their creditworthiness, financial strength and 
the size of their positions or commitments 
for the purpose of monitoring the customer 
concentration risk and stock concentration risk.

The Credit and Risk Control Department 
(“CRC Department”) is responsible for the 
daily monitoring of the changes in customers’ 
positions, their accounts and financing ratios; 
to observe strictly the approved financing 
and credit policies; to make margin calls and 
perform forced liquidation, where appropriate; 
to report to the management promptly and 
when abnormalities arise; to closely monitor the 
unusual movements and trading halts of stocks 
and timely identify non-performing debts; and 
to demand higher margin requirements and 
step up risk control for particular customers or 
products, where appropriate.

The Group has set up policies on customer 
concentration risk and stock concentration 
risk. The CRC Department will monitor the 
concentration of credit risk and regularly 
review stress tests performed by the Finance 
& Accounts to assess the Group’s credit risk 
exposure and capital adequacy and to report 
anomaly or any unusual price movements of 
customers’ stock positions. As at 30 September 
2024, the receivable balances due from the 
largest client and five largest clients represented 
5.42% and 18.5% of the total receivables from 
margin financing respectively.



Emperor Capital Group Limited   
Annual Report 2023 / 2024 52

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

b )  

CRC

2 0 2 4
9 3 0
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CRC

( i i )  

b) Lending portfolio
All loans and advances are subject to 
credit analysis, borrower’s due diligence, 
risk assessment and are approved by the 
management according to the credit policies set 
by the Credit Committee. The Loans Operation 
Department and the CRC Department tasked 
with the daily monitoring of exposures for loans 
and advances. As at 30 September 2024, the 
loans receivables due from the largest client and 
five largest clients represented 5.6% and 23.7% 
of the total loans and advances respectively.

The CRC Department, relevant business and 
operations departments meet the management both 
regularly and timely to review the development 
and status of past due accounts and to ensure 
appropriate actions are taken in a timely manner.

Moreover, the Internal Audit Department also 
conducts independent reviews on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of these policies and controls to 
ensure that the Group is operating according to the 
established policies, procedures and credit limits.

(ii) Equity Risk
Equity risk arises from fluctuation in the price and 
volatility of equities such as stocks, equity portfolio 
and stock index futures. The Group does not have 
proprietary equity investments. On the other hand, 
the Group may be subject to exposure arising from 
the underwriting commitments. The Group mitigates 
its risks by conducting detailed analysis of the 
issuer’s fundamentals and pricing against market 
conditions and appetites. Such risk exposure is also 
reduced by way of internal sales and distribution 
and by sub-underwritings.
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(iii) Liquidity Risk
The Group’s financing business is a capital intensive 
business which may be subject to liquidity risk. 
As part of its ordinary brokerage activities, the 
Group is also exposed to liquidity risk arising 
from timing difference between settlement with 
clearing houses or brokers and customers. The 
goal of liquidity risk management is to ensure the 
Group maintains adequate liquid capital to fund its 
business commitments as well as to comply with 
the relevant Financial Resources Rules applying to 
various licensed subsidiaries.

To address the liquidity risk, the Finance and 
Accounts Department and the management will 
review and monitor the Group’s liquidity position 
on daily basis to ensure availability of sufficient 
liquid funds. In addition, the Group has maintained 
sufficient stand-by banking and other facilities 
in order to meet any financial obligations in its 
operations. The management believes the Group’s 
working capital is adequate to meet its financial 
obligations.

(iv) Operational Risk
Operational risk is the risk of losses arising from 
inadequate or failed internal processes, people, 
systems or external events. The Group extends 
operational risk management to cover potential 
losses arising from legal and compliance breaches. 
Operational risk is reduced and controlled through 
establishing effective internal controls, clear lines 
of responsibility, proper segregation of duties 
and effective internal reporting and contingency 
planning. It is our corporate culture that the 
business and operating line management are fully 
aware of their responsibilities for managing the 
operational risks of their business units on a day-to-
day basis. Independent monitoring and reviews are 
conducted by the Compliance Department and the 
Internal Audit Department, which report regularly to 
the management and the Audit Committee.



Emperor Capital Group Limited   
Annual Report 2023 / 2024 54

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

( v )  

( 3 )  

(v) Others Risks
Change of social ,  economic and polit ical 
environment, occurrence of any natural disaster or 
outbreak of contagious diseases could adversely 
affect the Group’s business and operations. The 
Group stays alert to the changes in economic and 
market condition and adjust business strategic 
plans to cope with these changes. The Group also 
implements business continuity plans which include 
“Work from Home”, “Flexible Working Hours” and 
“Split-team Arrangements”; and ensures all safety 
measures are put in place.

(3) Due Diligence Review Performed by the Group in 
relation to Margin Financing, and Other Loans and 
Advances
For all financial assistance transactions, responsible 
personnel of the Group have taken reasonable steps 
verifying the identity of the applicants and guarantors 
through examination of identity documents such as 
identity cards, passports and address proofs. Clients’ 
occupation, business, financial standing and credit 
history of the client with the Group were also considered.

Notwithstanding the standard procedures above, the 
Group performed various due diligence exercises 
according to different natures of financial assistance.

For mortgage loans, the Group engaged no less than 
two independent property valuers to appraise the value 
of pledged properties. Land records were obtained from 
Land Registry in order to ascertain the registered owner 
of the property and incumbrances registered against it.

For margin financing business, the Group analysed 
the relevant underlying securities in accordance with 
price histories, trading performances, trading prospects 
and fundamentals of the collateral. The Group also 
considered public financial information in the case 
of listed securities. The margin clients were required 
to deposit their securities, and undertook to maintain 
certain position with the Group and personal guarantees 
provided by ultimate beneficial owners were required 
in case of corporate borrowers. The Group had daily 
monitoring of the share and financial performances of 
the listed companies for default events.
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For term loans, in the event that the clients deposited 
and undertook to maintain securities under the Group’s 
custody, the Group performed the same due diligence 
works as margin financing business. The clients 
may also be required to provide the Group with other 
securities when the needs arise based on latest credit 
assessment conducted from time to time.

The Credit Committee also takes into consideration 
existing or forecast adverse changes in business, 
financial, or economic conditions that are expected 
to cause a significant change in the borrower’s ability 
to meet its debt obligation; potential changes in the 
borrower’s ability to meet its debt obligation; external 
market credit risk indicators for collaterals with similar 
characteristics; and significant changes in the value 
of the collateral supporting the obligation or credit 
enhancement. Lastly, on-premise and face-to-face 
verification is required before entering agreement 
relating to provision of financial assistance.

D. Management Confirmation
The Board acknowledged that it had received a confirmation 
from the management on the effectiveness of the Control 
Systems of the Group for the Year. The Audit Committee 
and the Board, upon reviewing the Control Systems, were 
not aware of any significant issues that would have an 
adverse impact on the effectiveness and adequacy of the 
Group’s operational, financial and compliance areas of the 
Risk Control Systems.

Dividend Policy
The Company adopted a dividend policy setting out the principles 
for the Board to determine appropriate amount of dividend to 
be distributed to the Shareholders. The Company intends to 
provide the Shareholders with regular interim and final dividends 
(as the case may be) based on the earnings attributable to its 
Shareholders after taking into consideration of the factors as 
stated in the policy, including inter alia, (i) cash flow requirements 
for business operations; (ii) cash available, financial liabilities and 
capital commitment; (iii) market environment and challenges; 
and (iv) future development and investment opportunities. The 
declaration of dividends or recommendation on such payment 
shall be subject to all applicable laws, rules and regulations 
including but not limited to the Listing Rules, the applicable laws 
of Bermuda and the bye-laws of the Company.
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Communication with Shareholders
The Company’s Shareholders’ Communication Policy (available 
on the website of the Company) sets out the strategies, 
practices and commitment for maintaining ongoing and effective 
communication with the Shareholders, both individual and 
institutional, and in appropriate circumstances, the investment 
community at large so as to enable them to engage with the 
Company and exercise their rights as Shareholders in an informed 
manner. To this end, the Company strives to ensure that all 
Shareholders have ready and timely access to all publicly available 
information of the Group. To facilitate communication with the 
Shareholders and the investment community, the Company has 
established various communication channels, as follows: (i) 
the holding of AGMs and special general meetings (“SGM(s)”), 
if any, which may be convened for specific purposes to provide 
opportunities for the Shareholders to communicate directly with 
the Board; (ii) the publication of announcements, annual reports, 
interim reports and/or circulars as required under the Listing 
Rules and press releases providing updated information of the 
Group; (iii) the availability of latest information of the Group on 
the Company’s website at https://www.EmperorCapital.com; (iv) 
the holding of press conference(s) from time to time; and (v) 
meeting with investors and analysts when necessary.

General presentations are made when financial results are 
announced and dialogue with institutional Shareholders is made 
from time to time. Shareholders and investors are welcome to 
visit the Company’s website and to raise enquiries through our 
Investor Relations Department whose contact details are available 
on the Company’s website and the “Corporate Information and 
Key Dates” section of this annual report.

The Chairperson of the Board and the chairperson/members 
of the Board Committees, appropriate management executives 
and the independent auditor (as the case may be) are available 
to attend the general meetings to answer questions from the 
Shareholders.

The Company shall review the Shareholders’ Communication 
Policy annually to ensure its implementation and effectiveness. 
Having considered the multiple channels of communication and 
engagement in place, the Board is satisfied that the Shareholders’ 
Communication Policy was properly in place during the Year and 
remains effective.

(i)

(ii)

( i i i )
ht tps ://www.EmperorCapi ta l .com

(iv)
(v)
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Shareholders’ Rights
Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the Shareholders 
as required to be disclosed pursuant to the CG Code:

Right to Convene/Call General Meetings
Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and the bye-
laws of the Company, Shareholder(s) holding at the date of the 
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up 
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general 
meetings of the Company shall have the right to submit a written 
requisition requiring a SGM to be called by the Board. The written 
requisition (a) must state the purpose(s) of the meeting, and 
(b) must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the 
registered office and principal place of business of the Company 
in Hong Kong for attention of the Company Secretary, and may 
consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one 
or more requisitionists. Such requisitions will be verified with 
the Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and upon 
its confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order, the 
Company Secretary will ask the Board to convene a SGM by 
serving sufficient notice to all Shareholders. On the contrary, if 
the requisition has been verified as not in order, the requisitionists 
will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the SGM will not 
be convened as requested.

If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the 
deposit of a valid requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM 
for a day not more than 2 months after the date of deposit of a 
proper requisition, the requisitionists or any of them representing 
more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them may 
convene a SGM, but any SGM so convened shall not be held 
after the expiration of 3 months from the said date of deposit 
of the requisition. In addition, such meeting convened by the 
requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly 
as possible, as that in which meetings are to be convened by 
the Board.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings
Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, either any number 
of the Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth of the 
total voting rights of all the Shareholders having at the date of 
the requisition a right to vote at general meetings of the Company 
(“Requisitionists”), or not less than 100 of such Shareholders, can 
request the Company in writing to (a) give to the Shareholders 
entitled to receive notice of the next general meeting notice of 
any resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to 
be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate to the Shareholders 
entitled to have notice of any general meeting any statement of 
not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred 
to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at 
that meeting. The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists 
must be deposited at the principal place of business of the 
Company in Hong Kong with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet 
the Company’s relevant expenses and not less than six weeks 
before the meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of a 
resolution or not less than one week before the meeting in the 
case of any other requisition. Provided that an AGM is called for 
a date six weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited, 
such requisition though not deposited within the time required 
shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the purposes 
thereof.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director
The procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for 
election as a Director are available for viewing on the Company’s 
website.

Enquiries from Shareholders
Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their 
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share 
Registrar, Union Registrars Limited. Other Shareholders’ enquiries 
can be directed to the Investor Relations Department of the 
Company.

Constitutional Documents
There were no significant changes in the Company’s constitutional 
documents during the Year.

1981

1 0 0
( a )

(b )

1 ,000
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Auditor’s Independence and Remuneration
The Audit Committee is mandated to review and monitor 
the independence of the auditor to ensure objectivity and 
effectiveness of the audit process of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with applicable standards. Members 
of the Audit Committee were of the view that Messrs. Deloitte 
Touche Tohmatsu was independent and recommended the Board 
to propose its re-appointment as the Company’s independent 
auditor at the 2025 AGM. During the Year, Messrs. Deloitte 
Touche Tohmatsu rendered audit services and non-audit services 
to the Group and the remuneration paid/payable to it by the Group 
is set out as follows:

Services rendered Fees paid/payable

HK$’000

Audit services 2,300

   

Non-audit services:

– Agreed-upon procedures for continuing connected transactions
– 

60

– Review of preliminary results announcement
– 

60
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 
EMPEROR CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Emperor 
Capital Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 68 to 161, 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 30 September 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement 
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including material accounting policy information and 
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a 
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 
the Group as at 30 September 2024, and of its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly 
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards 
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters.

68 161

2024 9 30

2024 9 30
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment of loans and advances and accounts receivable from secured margin clients (collectively 
referred to as the “advances to customers”) at Stage 3

We identified the impairment of advances to 
customers at stage 3 as a key audit matter due 
to the involvement of significant management 
judgement.

In determining the lifetime expected credit loss 
(“ECL”) on advances to customers classified at 
stage 3, the Group performs the assessment 
based on the Group’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusting for factors that are specific 
to the borrowers, general economic conditions 
at the reporting date as well as the forecast 
of future conditions with significant judgement 
involved. The Group also reviews the fair value 
of the collateral received from the borrowers in 
determining the amount of ECL. The methodology 
and assumptions used for estimating both the 
amount and timing of future cash flows are 
reviewed regularly to reduce any differences 
between estimated ECL amounts and actual loss 
experience.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment of 
advances to customers at stage 3 included:

– Understanding the Group’s established credit risk 
policies and procedures for impairment assessment 
under HKFRS 9 including approval and selection 
and application of assumptions and key inputs;

– 
9

– Understanding the key controls over ongoing 
monitoring processes, including:

– 

(i) the process of margin call procedures for 
margin shortfall and actions taken by 
management for those accounts receivable 
from margin clients arising from the business 
of dealing in securities with margin call; and

(i) 

(ii) the process of periodic reviews for identification 
of any indications of deterioration of the 
creditability of borrowers through searching 
of publicly available information and any 
delinquency in principal or interest repayment 
for advances to customers;

(ii) 



Emperor Capital Group Limited   
Annual Report 2023 / 2024 62

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Key Audit Matters (Continued)
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment of loans and advances and accounts receivable from secured margin clients (collectively 
referred to as the “advances to customers”) at Stage 3 (continued)

As set out in notes 21, 22, and 38 to the 
consolidated financial statements, the total gross 
carrying amounts of (i) loans and advances and 
(ii) accounts receivable from secured margin 
clients as at 30 September 2024 amounted 
to HK$2,379,853,000 and HK$1,570,343,000 
respectively, of which HK$1,373,759,000 and 
HK$1,520,911,000 respectively are classified at 
stage 3.

21 22 38 2024 9
30 (i) (ii)

2,379,853,000 1,570,343,000
1,373,759,000 1,520,911,000

As at 30 September 2024, impairment allowances 
of HK$838,881,000 and HK$1,287,992,000 have 
been provided in relation to (i) loans and advances 
and (ii) accounts receivable from secured margin 
clients classified at stage 3, respectively, as 
disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

38 2024 9 30
(i) (ii)

838,881,000
1,287,992,000

– Assessing the reasonableness and appropriateness 
of the management’s judgement on staging criteria 
for determining if the significant increase in credit 
risk has occurred (stage 1 or 2) or the financial 
asset is credit-impaired (stage 3) and the basis 
for classification of exposures into the 3 stages 
as required by HKFRS 9 and examining supporting 
information on a sample basis to assess the 
appropriateness of the classification of exposures 
as at the end of the reporting period;

– 

9

– Corroborating and challenging management’s 
assessment and key estimations used in 
determining expectation of reasonably possible 
outcomes on the recoverability of the advances 
to customers against our understanding of the 
situation and the industries of the borrowers or 
guarantor and collateral, if any, from reading public 
announcements and other externally available 
information;

– 

– Examining underlying documentation supporting the 
management’s key estimations used in determining 
the present value of the estimated future cash 
flows, including the historical repayment records 
and expected repayment subsequent to the end 
of the reporting period, fair value of the collateral, 
if any, and other information available on the 
creditability of those borrowers;

– 
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment of loans and advances and accounts receivable from secured margin clients (collectively 
referred to as the “advances to customers”) at Stage 3 (continued)

– Reviewing the fair value of collateral together 
with our internal valuation specialists, where 
appropriate, including:

– 

• Obtaining the appraisal reports and assessing 
the competence and independence of the third-
party professional valuers and their experience 
in conducting valuation of similar assets;

• 

• Assessing whether the selection of the 
valuation methodology is appropriate for the 
collateral; and

• 

• Evaluating the appropriateness of key inputs 
used in the valuation of the collateral by 
independently checking to the external data 
and publicly available information.

• 

– Testing the accuracy and completeness of key 
data sources applied in the ECL computation on a 
sample basis by checking to the Group’s supporting 
information, the relevant loan files and external 
data source, as applicable.

– 



Emperor Capital Group Limited   
Annual Report 2023 / 2024 64

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Other Information
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not 
cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing 
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged 
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation 
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors 
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing 
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a 
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies 
Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility 
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents 
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal 
control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

90

• 

• 

• 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the 

going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 
going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent 
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement 
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken 
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, 
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent 
auditor’s report is Cheuk Hoi Ho.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
19 December 2024

•

2024 12 19
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For the year ended 30 September 2024 2024 9 30

2024 2023
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 
Commission and fee income 6 236,981 77,357
Interest income 6 294,647 363,689     

531,628 441,046
Other income and gain or losses 7 (133,957) 9,249
Impairment allowances on financial 

assets, net of reversal
8 (158,931) (403,638)

Impairment allowance on right-of-use 
assets 

18 – (15,753)

Staff costs 9 (73,884) (71,982)
Commission and fee expenses (21,134) (30,848)
Other operating expenses 13 (74,088) (73,998)
Finance costs 10 (3,504) (14,871)     
Profit (loss) before tax 13 66,130 (160,795)
Income tax credit 14 231 157     
Profit (loss) for the year attributable 

to owners of the Company
66,361 (160,638)

Other comprehensive income 
(expense) 

Item that may be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on 

translation of foreign operations 
174 (158)

     
Total comprehensive income (expense) 

for the year attributable to owners 
of the Company

66,535 (160,796)

     
Profit (loss) per share 

Basic 15 HK0.98 cent HK(2.38) cents 
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2024 2023
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets 
Property and equipment 17 7,696 6,498
Right-of-use assets 18 2,307 5,753
Intangible assets 19 – –
Other assets 20 9,635 7,695
Loans and advances 21 276,546 461,219
Deferred tax assets 26 590 590     

296,774 481,755     
Current assets 

Accounts receivable 22 699,774 511,917
Loans and advances 21 1,263,046 1,615,488
Other debtors, deposits and 

prepayments
7,099 12,511

Tax recoverable 8,278 3,447
Pledged bank deposits – 

general accounts 23
260,000 160,000

Bank balances and cash – 
general accounts 24

1,260,778 1,002,263

Bank balances and cash – 
segregated accounts 24

1,478,077 1,406,891
     

4,977,052 4,712,517     
Current liabilities 

Accounts payable 25 1,750,576 1,537,710
Other creditors and accrued 

charges 
53,261 33,137

Tax liabilities 1,491 1,804
Lease liabilities 27 8,193 9,320
Short-term bank borrowings 28 – 210,000     

1,813,521 1,791,971     
Net current assets 3,163,531 2,920,546     
Total assets less current liabilities 3,460,305 3,402,301     
Non-current liabilities 

Lease liabilities 27 4,225 12,756     
Net assets 3,456,080 3,389,545

     

Capital and reserves 
Share capital 29 67,408 67,408
Reserves 3,388,672 3,322,137     

Total equity 3,456,080 3,389,545
     

The consolidated financial statements on pages 68 to 161 were 
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 
19 December 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

DAISY YEUNG FAN MAN SEUNG, VANESSA

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

2024 12 19
68 161
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Attributable to owners of the Company
 

Share
capital

Share
premium

Special
reserve

Capital
contribution

reserve
Translation

reserve
Retained

profits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 October 2022 2022 10 1 67,408 3,199,289 9,950 2,004 (137) 271,827 3,550,341
Loss for the year – – – – – (160,638) (160,638)
Other comprehensive 

expense for the year
– – – – (158) – (158)

         
At 30 September 2023 2023 9 30 67,408 3,199,289 9,950 2,004 (295) 111,189 3,389,545
Profit for the year – – – – – 66,361 66,361
Other comprehensive 

income for the year
– – – – 174 – 174

         
At 30 September 2024 2024 9 30 67,408 3,199,289 9,950 2,004 (121) 177,550 3,456,080

         

Special reserve represents the difference between the nominal 
value of the ordinary shares of a subsidiary of the Company in 
issue and the nominal value of the shares issued by the Company 
for acquisition of a subsidiary pursuant to a group reorganisation 
on 2 April 2007.

Capital contribution reserve represents the deemed contribution 
arising from a fellow subsidiary waiving certain amount of 
management fee in previous years.

2007 4 2



Emperor Capital Group Limited  
Annual Report 2023 / 2024 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 30 September 2024 2024 9 30

71

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit (loss) before tax 66,130 (160,795)
Adjustments for: 

Finance costs 3,504 14,871
Interest income (294,647) (363,689)
Depreciation of property and 

equipment 
2,900 3,827

Depreciation for right-of-use assets 2,537 4,692
Impairment allowances on financial 

assets, net of reversal
158,931 403,638

Impairment allowance on 
right-of-use assets

– 15,753

Gain on early termination of leases (58) (18)    
Operating cash flows before 

movements in working capital
(60,703) (81,721)

Increase in accounts receivable (197,567) (26,244)
Increase in other assets (1,940) (2,506)
Decrease in loans and advances 408,382 107,330
Decrease in other debtors, deposits 

and prepayments
5,412 1,850

(Increase) decrease in bank balances 
and cash – segregated accounts 

– (71,186) 166,183

Increase in pledged bank deposits – 
general accounts

(100,000) –

Increase (decrease) in accounts 
payable 

212,866 (115,476)

Increase in other creditors and 
accrued charges

20,332 404
    

Cash generated from operations 215,596 49,820
Hong Kong Profits Tax (paid) refund (4,898) 1,275
PRC Tax paid (15) (17)
Interest paid (3,538) (14,295)
Interest received 274,159 338,912    
NET CASH FROM OPERATING 

ACTIVITIES 
481,304 375,695

    
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Purchase of property and equipment (4,124) (3,432)
Proceeds on disposal of property and 

equipment
26 –

    
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING 

ACTIVITIES
(4,098) (3,432)

    
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Drawdown on bank borrowings 840,000 3,210,000
Repayment of bank borrowings (1,050,000) (3,430,000)
Repayment of lease liabilities (8,691) (10,796)    
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2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES

(218,691) (230,796)
    

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS

258,515 141,467

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

1,002,263 860,796
    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 
THE END OF THE YEAR

1,260,778 1,002,263

    

ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances and cash – general 
accounts

1,260,778 1,002,263

    

Disclosure in relation to the changes in liabilities arising from 
financing activities are detailed in note 32 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

32
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1. General
Emperor Capital Group Limited (the “Company”) is 
incorporated and registered as an exempted company with 
limited liability under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda 
(as amended). The immediate holding company is Emperor 
Capital Group Holdings Limited which is a limited liability 
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the 
“BVI”). The ultimate holding company is Albert Yeung Capital 
Holdings Limited, a limited liability company incorporated 
in the BVI. The entire issued share capital of Albert Yeung 
Capital Holdings Limited is in turn held by First Board 
Services AG, being the trustee of Albert Yeung Capital 
Discretionary Trust, a discretionary trust set up by Dr. Yeung 
Sau Shing, Albert.

Shares of the Company have been listed on the Main Board 
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 
Exchange”) since 24 April 2007. The addresses of the 
registered office and principal place of business of the 
Company are disclosed in the “Corporate Information and 
Key Dates” section of the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The 
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out 
in note 34.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
Hong Kong dollar, which is also the functional currency of 
the Company.

1. 

1981

Albert 
Yeung Capital Discretionary Trust

First Board Services AG

2007 4 24

34
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2. 

2023
10 1

17 2020
10 2022 2

17
8

12

12

2. Application of New and Amendments to 
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
(“HKFRSS”)
New and amendments to HKFRSs that are 
mandatorily effective for the current year
In the current year, the Group has applied the following 
new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) 
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 October 2023 for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the 
October 2020 and February 
2022 Amendments to 
HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting 
Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to 
Assets and Liabilities 
arising from a Single 
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform – 
Pillar Two model Rules

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs in 
the current year has had no material impact on the Group’s 
financial positions and performance for the current and prior 
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated 
financial statements.
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2. Application of New and Amendments to 
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but 
not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and 
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not 
yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to the 
Classification and 
Measurement of 
Financial Instruments4

Amendments to HKFRS 10 
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of 
Assets between an 
Investor and its Associate 
or Joint Venture1

Amendments to 
HKFRS Accounting 
Standards

Annual Improvements 
to HKFRS Accounting 
Standards – Volume 114

Amendments to 
HKFRS 16

Lease Liability in a Sale and 
Leaseback2

Amendments to 
HKAS 1

Classification of Liabilities 
as Current or Non-current 
and related amendments 
to Hong Kong 
Interpretation 5 (2020)2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with 
Covenants2

Amendments to HKAS 7 
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance 
Arrangements2

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability3

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure 
in Financial Statements5

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be 
determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the 
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all 
other amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact 
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable 
future.

2. 

9
7

4

10
28 1

11 4

16
2

1

5 2020
2

1
2

7

7

2

21 3

18 5

1 

2 2024 1 1

3 2025 1 1

4 2026 1 1

5 2027 1 1
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9
7

9

7

2026 1 1

2. Application of New and Amendments to 
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but 
not yet effective (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the 
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments

The amendments to HKFRS 9 clarify the recognition and 
derecognition for financial asset and financial liability and 
add an exception which permits an entity to deem a financial 
liability to be discharged before the settlement date if it is 
settled in cash using an electronic payment system if, and 
only if certain conditions are met.

The amendments also provide guidance on the assessment 
of whether the contractual cash flows of a financial asset are 
consistent with a basic lending arrangement. The amendments 
specify that an entity should focus on what an entity is being 
compensated for rather than the compensation amount. 
Contractual cash flows are inconsistent with a basic lending 
arrangement if they are indexed to a variable that is not a 
basic lending risk or cost. The amendments state that, in some 
cases, a contingent feature may give rise to contractual cash 
flows that are consistent with a basic lending arrangement 
both before and after the change in contractual cash flows, but 
the nature of the contingent event itself does not relate directly 
to changes in basic lending risks and costs. Furthermore, 
the description of the term “non-recourse” is enhanced and 
the characteristics of “contractually linked instruments” are 
clarified in the amendments.

The disclosure requirements in HKFRS 7 in respect of 
investments in equity instruments designated at fair value 
through other comprehensive income are amended. In 
particular, entities are required to disclose the fair value 
gain or loss presented in other comprehensive income during 
the period, showing separately those related to investments 
derecognised during the reporting period and those related to 
investments held at the end of the reporting period. An entity 
is also required to disclose any transfers of the cumulative 
gain or loss within equity related to the investments 
derecognised during the reporting period. In addition, the 
amendments introduce the requirements of qualitative and 
quantitative disclosure of contractual terms that could affect 
the contractual cash flow based on a contingent event not 
directly relating to basic lending risks and cost.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2026, with early application 
permitted. The application of the amendments is not 
expected to have significant impact on the financial position 
and performance of the Group.
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2. Application of New and Amendments to 
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but 
not yet effective (Continued)
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial 
Statements
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial 
Statements, which sets out requirements on presentation 
and disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS 
1 Presentation of Financial Statements. This new HKFRS 
Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of the 
requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new requirements 
to present specified categories and defined subtotals in 
the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on 
management-defined performance measures in the notes 
to the financial statements and improve aggregation and 
disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the financial 
statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been 
moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to HKAS 
7 Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share 
are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2027, with early application permitted. The application of 
the new standard is expected to affect the presentation 
of the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the 
future financial statements. The Group is in the process of 
assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements.

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Material Accounting Policy 
Information
Basis of preparation of consolidated financial 
statements
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For 
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements, information is considered material if such 
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions 
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial 
statements include applicable disclosures required by the 
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by 
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

2. 

18

18

1

1

1
8

7
7 33

18
2027 1 1

18

3. 



Emperor Capital Group Limited   
Annual Report 2023 / 2024 78

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 September 2024 2024 9 30

3. 

• 

• 

• 

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Material Accounting Policy 
Information (Continued)
Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the 
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled 
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved 
when the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee 
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 
to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains 
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses 
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses 
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are 
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains 
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the 
subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 
in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses 
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of 
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance 
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or 
services underlying the particular performance obligation is 
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or 
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of 
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Material Accounting Policy 
Information (Continued)
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised 
over time by reference to the progress towards complete 
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of 
the following criteria is met:

• the customer simultaneously receives and consumes 
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the 
Group performs;

• the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset 
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

• the Group’s performance does not create an asset with 
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an 
enforceable right to payment for performance completed 
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when 
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration 
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has 
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It 
is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In 
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional 
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is 
required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to 
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group 
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration 
is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liabilities relating to the 
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net 
basis.

3. 

• 

• 

• 

9
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Material Accounting Policy 
Information (Continued)
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Variable consideration
For contracts that contain variable consideration, such as 
sponsoring service fee and performance fee from asset 
management services, the Group estimates the amount of 
consideration to which it will be entitled using the most likely 
amount, which better predicts the amount of consideration 
to which the Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included 
in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly 
probable that such an inclusion will not result in a significant 
revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty 
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently 
resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates 
the estimated transaction price (including updating its 
assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration 
is constrained) to represent faithfully the circumstances 
present at the end of the reporting period and the changes 
in circumstances during the reporting period.

Description of the Group’s performance obligation of main 
source of income under the scope of HKFRS 15 are as 
follows:

Brokerage
The Group provides broking and dealing services for 
securities, futures and options contracts. Commission 
income is recognised at a point in time on the execution 
date of the trades at a certain percentage of the transaction 
value of the trades executed. The Group provides custodian 
and handling services for securities, futures and options 
customer accounts. Fee income is recognised when the 
transaction is executed and service is completed (i.e. at 
a point in time), except for custodian service fee which is 
recognised over time.
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3. 3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Material Accounting Policy 
Information (Continued)
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Underwriting, placement and corporate finance
The Group provides placing, underwriting or sub-underwriting 
services to customers for their fund raising activities in 
equity and debt capital markets. Revenue is recognised when 
the relevant placing, underwriting, sub-underwriting services 
are completed. Accordingly, the revenue is recognised at a 
point in time.

The Group also provides sponsoring services to clients 
for their fund raising activities and corporate advisory 
services to corporate clients for their corporate actions. 
The Group considers that all the services promised in a 
particular contract of being a sponsor or corporate advisor 
are interdependent and interrelated and should be therefore 
accounted for as a single performance obligation. As 
there is enforceable right to payment for the Group for the 
performance of services completed up to date based on the 
contracts with customers regarding sponsor or corporate 
advisory services, the revenue is recognised over time based 
on the stage of completion of the contract, the services 
transferred to customers up to date.

Wealth management
The Group provides wealth management services to 
customers. The customers simultaneously receives and 
consumes the benefit provided by the Group, hence the 
revenue is recognised as a performance obligation satisfied 
over time. Wealth management fee income is charged at a 
fixed percentage per month of the net asset value of the 
managed accounts under management of the Group.

The Group is also entitled to a performance fee when the 
performance meets certain levels in accordance with Private 
Placement Memorandum for the relevant performance period 
and it is recognised at the end of the relevant performance 
period, when it is highly probable that a significant reversal 
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not 
occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable 
consideration is subsequently resolved.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Material Accounting Policy 
Information (Continued)
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases
The Group as a lessee
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

• the amount of the initial measurement of the lease 
liability;

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement 
date, less any lease incentives received;

• any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

• an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in 
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, 
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the 
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms 
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and 
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. Right-
of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line 
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits
Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair 
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease 
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises 
and measures the lease liability at the present value of 
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating 
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the 
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement 
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 
determinable.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Material Accounting Policy 
Information (Continued)
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
The lease payments include: fixed payments (including 
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives 
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted 
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a 
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) 
whenever:

• the lease term has changed, in which case the related 
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised 
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date 
of reassessment.

• the lease payments change due to changes in market 
rental rates following a market rent review, in which 
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by 
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial 
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item 
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate 
lease if:

• the modification increases the scope of the lease by 
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets; 
and

• the consideration for the leases increases by an amount 
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the 
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to 
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of 
the particular contract.

3. 
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3. 3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Material Accounting Policy 
Information (Continued)
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications (Continued)
For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a 
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, less 
any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease term of 
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments 
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the 
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities 
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease 
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease 
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the 
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of 
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the 
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Property and equipment
Property and equipment are stated in the consolidated 
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items 
of property and equipment less their residual values over 
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. 
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation 
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, 
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on 
a prospective basis.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon 
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss 
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property 
and equipment is determined as the difference between the 
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is 
recognised in profit or loss.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Material Accounting Policy 
Information (Continued)
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Foreign currencies
In preparing the financial statements of each individual group 
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional 
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised 
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the 
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary 
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary 
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial 
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 
operations are translated into the presentation currency of 
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates 
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and 
expenses items are translated at the average exchange 
rates for the year. Exchange differences arising, if any, are 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in equity under the heading of translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal 
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a 
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that 
includes a foreign operation, all of the exchange differences 
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable 
to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or 
loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary 
that does not result in the Group losing control over the 
subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange 
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and 
are not recognised in profit or loss.

3. 
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3. 3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Material Accounting Policy 
Information (Continued)
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Share options granted to directors and employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and 
others providing similar services are measured at the fair 
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments 
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration 
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s 
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with 
a corresponding increase in equity (share-based payments 
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group 
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments 
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of 
the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or 
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised 
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-
based payments reserve.

Share options granted to directors and employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and 
others providing similar services are measured at the fair 
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments 
determined at the grant date without taking into 
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed 
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the 
Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually 
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share-based 
payments reserve). At the end of each reporting period, 
the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity 
instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all 
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the 
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in 
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the 
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the 
share-based payments reserve. For share options that vest 
immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share 
options granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously 
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to 
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after 
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, 
the amount previously recognised in share options reserve 
will be transferred to retained profits.
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3. 3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Material Accounting Policy 
Information (Continued)
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Employment benefit
Retirement benefit costs
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans 
are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered 
service entitling them to the contributions.

Bonus plans
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses, 
where appropriate, based on approved formulas that take 
into consideration the profit attributable to the Group after 
certain adjustments. The Group recognises a provision where 
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that 
has created a constructive obligation.

All other short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the 
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid 
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless 
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the 
benefit in the cost of an asset. A liability is recognised for 
benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, 
and annual leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs, that are not directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they 
are incurred.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently 
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for 
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/(loss) before tax 
because of items of income or expense that are taxable or 
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or 
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated 
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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3. 3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Material Accounting Policy 
Information (Continued)
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax 
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for 
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the 
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other 
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in 
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the 
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not 
recognised if the temporary differences arises from the initial 
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary 
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the 
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred 
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences 
associated with such investments are only recognised to 
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient 
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the 
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in 
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the 
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the 
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate 
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets 
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the 
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of 
its assets and liabilities.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Material Accounting Policy 
Information (Continued)
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there 
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income 
taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation 
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, 
except when it relates to items that are recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, 
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial 
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is 
included in the accounting for the business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, 
the Group considers whether it is probable that the relevant 
tax authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment used, 
or proposed to be use by individual group entities in their 
income tax filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred 
taxes are determined consistently with the tax treatment in 
the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the relevant 
taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, 
the effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the 
most likely amount or the expected value.

Impairment losses on property and equipment and right-
of-use assets
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the 
carrying amounts of its property and equipment and right-
of-use assets with finite useful lives to determine whether 
there is any indication that these assets have suffered an 
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property and equipment and 
right-of-use assets are estimated individually, when it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset 
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of 
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

3. 
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3. 3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Material Accounting Policy 
Information (Continued)
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Impairment losses on property and equipment and right-of-
use assets (Continued)
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating 
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) 
is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets 
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated 
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating 
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of 
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the 
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated 
to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable 
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating 
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first 
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) 
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on 
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group 
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset 
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs 
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) 
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would 
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated 
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of 
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a 
group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group 
of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the 
consolidated statement of financial position when a group 
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial 
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date 
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales 
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the 
time frame established by regulation or convention in the 
market place.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Material Accounting Policy 
Information (Continued)
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured 
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from 
contracts with customers which are initially measured in 
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial 
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets 
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
(“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair value of 
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on 
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to 
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at 
FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability 
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over 
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and 
payments (including all fees and points paid or received 
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through 
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, 
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary 
course of business are presented as revenue.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial 
assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

• the financial asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

3. 
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Material Accounting Policy 
Information (Continued)
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial 
assets (Continued)
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are 
subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose 
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash 
flows and selling; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at 
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset 
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent 
changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not 
held for trading and is not contingent consideration of an 
acquirer in a business combination) in other comprehensive 
income with only dividend income generally recognised in 
profit or loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling 
in the near term; or

• on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified 
financial instruments that the Group manages together 
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as 
a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial 
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost 
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or 
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Material Accounting Policy 
Information (Continued)
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial 
assets (Continued)
Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest 
method for financial assets measured subsequently at 
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying 
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount 
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For 
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the 
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial 
asset from the next reporting period (with the amortised 
cost being the gross carrying amount less the impairment 
allowance). If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial 
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer 
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying 
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of 
the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period 
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group performs impairment assessment under expected 
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets including 
other debtors and deposits, loans and advances, accounts 
receivable, pledged bank deposits and bank balances which 
are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of 
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 
credit risk since initial recognition.

3. 

9
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Material Accounting Policy 
Information (Continued)
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all 
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant 
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents 
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from 
default events that are possible within 12 months after the 
reporting date. Assessments are done based on the Group’s 
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are 
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting 
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts 
receivable that result from transactions within the scope 
of HKFRS 15 and the ECL on these assets are assessed 
individually for debtors with significant balances and/or 
collectively using a provision matrix with debtors having 
similar credit ratings.

For all other instruments, the Group applies the general 
approach to measure ECL for all financial assets, if any, 
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. On this 
basis, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m 
ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises 
lifetime ECL.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares 
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument 
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default 
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of 
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group 
considers both quantitative and qualitative information, if 
applicable, that is reasonable and supportable, including 
historical experience and forward-looking information 
that is available without undue cost or effort.

Regarding accounts receivable from secured margin 
clients, the criteria of significant increase in credit risk 
involves changes in the predetermined ratio of the 
market value of pledged collateral to the outstanding 
margin loan that triggers a margin call, and the number 
of outstanding days of the margin call. Further details 
for the significant increase in credit risk are detailed in 
note 38.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Material Accounting Policy 
Information (Continued)
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In respect of financial assets except for accounts 
receivable from secured margin clients, the following 
information is taken into account when assessing 
whether credit risk has increased significantly:

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in 
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 
internal credit rating;

• significant deterioration in external market 
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase 
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices 
for the debtor;

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, 
financial or economic conditions that are expected 
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s 
ability to meet its debt obligations;

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the 
operating results of the debtor;

• an actual or expected significant adverse change 
in the regulatory, economic, or technological 
environment of the debtor that results in a 
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet 
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, 
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition when contractual 
payments are more than 30 days past due (except for 
accounts receivable from secured margin clients where 
a shorter period of “past due” has been applied by the 
directors in view of the nature of business operation 
and practice in managing the credit risk), unless the 
Group has reasonable and supportable information that 
demonstrates otherwise. Information that will be taken 
into account when assessing significant increase in 
credit risk are also set out in note 38.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Material Accounting Policy 
Information (Continued)
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of 
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as 
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the 
amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers 
the event of default occurs when the information 
developed internally or obtained from external sources 
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, 
including the Group, in full (without taking into account 
any collaterals held by the Group).

In respective of the above, the Group considers that 
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and 
supportable information to demonstrate that a more 
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more 
events of default that have a detrimental impact on 
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset 
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following 
events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the 
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due 
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or 
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s 
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a 
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise 
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Material Accounting Policy 
Information (Continued)
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is 
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect 
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has 
been placed under liquidation or has entered into 
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off 
may still be subject to enforcement activities under 
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account 
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes 
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are 
recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability 
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the 
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The 
assessment of the probability of default and loss given 
default are based on historical data and forward-looking 
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and 
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the 
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between 
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that 
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective 
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into 
consideration the following characteristics when 
formulating the grouping:

• Past-due status;

• Nature, size, background and industry of debtors; 
and

• External credit ratings where available.

3. 

(iv) 

(v) 

• 

• 

• 



Emperor Capital Group Limited   
Annual Report 2023 / 2024 98

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 September 2024 2024 9 30

3. 

(v) 

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Material Accounting Policy 
Information (Continued)
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to 
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share 
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying 
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset 
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is 
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial 
asset in the next reporting period.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in 
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting 
their carrying amount, with the exception of accounts 
receivable from secured margin clients and loans 
and advances where the corresponding adjustment is 
recognised through a loss allowance account.

In assessing the ECL for financial assets, the Group 
performs the assessment based on the Group’s historical 
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors specific to 
the borrowers and the current conditions at the reporting 
date as well as the forecast of future conditions. The 
Group also reviews the value of collateral received 
from the customers in measuring impairment. The 
methodology and assumptions used for estimating the 
impairment amount are reviewed regularly to reduce 
any differences between loss estimates and actual loss 
experience.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised 
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is 
recognised in profit or loss.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Material Accounting Policy 
Information (Continued)
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity 
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity 
in accordance with the substance of the contractual 
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and 
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a 
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all 
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company 
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 
costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities including accounts payable, other 
creditors and short-term bank borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only 
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount 
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration 
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets and financial liabilities offsetting
A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the 
net amount is presented in the consolidated statement of 
financial position when, and only when, the Group currently 
has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised 
amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

4. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key 
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the 
directors of the Company are required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources.

3. 

4. 
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4. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key 
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and other factors that are considered to 
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if 
the revision affects only that period or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current 
and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, 
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end 
of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

The application of ECL Model
The directors of the Company estimate the amount of 
loss allowance for ECL on financial assets at amortised 
cost based on the credit risk of the respective financial 
instrument. The loss allowance amount is measured as 
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows with the 
consideration of expected future credit loss of the respective 
financial instrument. The assessment of the credit risk and 
expected cash flows of the respective financial instrument 
involves a high degree of estimation and uncertainty. The 
provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The 
estimates would include the amount and timing of future 
cash flows and collateral value when determining impairment 
allowances. When the actual future cash flows are less than 
expected or more than expected, a material impairment 
loss or a material reversal of impairment loss may arise, 
accordingly. The information about the ECL on financial 
assets at amortised cost are disclosed in note 38 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

The Risk Management Department is responsible for 
developing and maintaining the processes for measuring ECL 
including monitoring of credit risk, incorporation of forward-
looking information and the method used to measure ECL, 
and ensuring that the Group has policies and procedures in 
place to appropriately maintain and validate models used to 
assess and measure ECL.
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4. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key 
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
The application of ECL Model (Continued)
Incorporation of forward-looking information
The Group employs experts who use external and internal 
information to generate scenarios of future forecasts of 
relevant economic variables. The internal and external 
information used includes the historical data of the Group 
and economic data and forecasts published by governmental 
bodies, monetary authorities or other financial institutions. 
Accordingly, when measuring ECL, the Group selects and 
uses reasonable and supportable forward-looking information 
without undue cost or effort in its assessment, which is based 
on assumptions and estimates for the future movement of 
different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect 
each other as well as the correlation between historical 
default rate and macro-economic factors. Management 
estimates these forward-looking economic factors, such as 
GDP growth, unemployment rate, interest rate and inflation 
etc. under different scenario and analyse the impact on 
probability of default (“PD”) and loss given default (“LGD”) 
for different financial assets.

Measurement of ECL
PD constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. PD is an 
estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon 
and the calculation is based on reasonable and appropriate 
statistical rating models selected by the management. These 
statistical models are based on market data (where available), 
as well as internal data comprising both quantitative and 
qualitative factors, if applicable, which includes historical 
data, assumptions and expectations of future conditions. The 
management gathers this information and adjusts the data 
to reflect probability-weighted forward looking information 
that is reasonable and supportable and available without 
undue cost or effort.

LGD is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based 
on the difference between the contractual cash flows due 
and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking 
into account cash flows from collateral and integral credit 
enhancements with estimation involved. The LGD models 
for secured assets consider forecasts of future collateral 
valuation taking into account sale discounts, transaction 
volume of the secured assets and seniority of claim. For 
unsecured loans, the calculation of LGD includes the 
judgments in determining the proportion of loan recovered 
after default and the duration of recovery.

4. 
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4. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key 
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
The application of ECL Model (Continued)
Measurement of ECL (Continued)
In assessing the lifetime ECL on credit-impaired financial 
assets classified as stage 3, the Group performs the 
assessment based on the Group’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the 
debtors or borrowers, which include any (i) significant 
financial difficulty of the debtors or borrowers, (ii) the 
status and progress of financial restructuring, general 
economic conditions and both the current conditions at the 
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions 
with significant judgments involved. Moreover, the Group 
also reviews and assesses the fair value of the collateral 
received from the customers in determining the impairment.

Relevant information with regard to the exposure of credit 
risk and expected credit losses are set out in note 38 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Estimated impairment of property and equipment and right-
of-use assets
Property and equipment and right-of-use assets are stated 
at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if 
any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group 
has to exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in 
assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators 
that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value 
of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, in 
the case of value in use, the net present value of future cash 
flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of 
the asset; and (3) the appropriate key inputs to be applied 
in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow 
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual 
asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which 
the assets belongs including allocation of corporate assets 
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can 
be established. Changing the inputs and estimates including 
the discount rates or the growth rates in the cash flow 
projections could materially affect the recoverable amounts 
of the various cash-generating units.

4. 

(i) (ii)
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4. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key 
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Estimated impairment of property and equipment and right-
of-use assets (Continued)
As at 30 September 2024, in view of impairment indicators, 
the Group performed impairment assessment on property 
and equipment and right-of-use assets of carrying amounts 
(before impairment allowance) of HK$7,696,000 (2023: 
HK$6,498,000) and HK$18,060,000 (2023: HK$21,506,000) 
respectively. Impairment losses of HK$Nil (2023: HK$Nil) and 
HK$15,753,000 (2023: HK$15,753,000) have been recognised 
on property and equipment and right-of-use assets as at 30 
September 2024, respectively. Details of the impairment of 
property and equipment and right-of-use assets are disclosed 
in notes 17 and 18.

Income taxes
As at 30 September 2024, tax losses of HK$3,385,613,000 
(2023: HK$3,400,371,000) have not been recognised as 
deferred tax asset due to the unpredictability of future profit 
streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly 
depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable 
temporary differences will be available in the future. In case 
where the actual future taxable profits generated are more 
than expected, or change in facts and circumstances which 
result in revision of future taxable profits estimation, a 
material recognition of deferred tax asset may arise, which 
would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which 
such a recognition takes place.

Critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those 
involving estimations (see above), that the directors of the 
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect 
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements.

4. 
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4. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key 
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)
Critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk in measurement of ECL
As explained in note 3, the Group monitors all financial 
assets that are subject to impairment requirements to assess 
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition. If there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk, the Company will measure the loss 
allowance based on lifetime rather than 12m ECL. Certain 
loans and advances and accounts receivable from margin 
clients are measured on lifetime ECL basis as for those 
credit risk had increased significantly since initial recognition. 
HKFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a significant 
increase in credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk 
of an asset has significantly increased, the Group takes 
into account qualitative and quantitative information, if 
applicable, that is reasonable and supportable, including 
historical experience and forward-looking information that is 
available without undue cost or effort. Information that will 
be taken into account when assessing significant increase in 
credit risk are also set out in “Impairment of financial assets” 
in notes 3 and 38.

Determination of consolidation and significant influence 
scope of certain pledged securities in money lending
The Group entered into secured loan arrangements with 
customers that contain several covenants such that the 
Group may have the voting rights on certain relevant 
activities of the pledged company and/or seize and enforce 
the pledged company if a covenant is breached. When these 
protective rights become exercisable and/or the Group seizes 
and enforces the pledged companies, there is a change in 
facts and circumstances and the assessments of control and 
significant influence are required to be performed.

All facts and circumstances must be taken into consideration 
in the assessment of whether these rights are substantive 
and whether the Group, as lender, has practical ability to 
exercise these rights as power to direct the relevant activities 
of the pledged company. The principle of control sets out 
the following three elements of control: (a) power over the 
pledged company; (b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns 
from involvement with the pledged company; and (c) the 
ability to use power over the pledged company to affect the 
amount of the lender’s returns.

4. 
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4. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key 
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)
Critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies (Continued)
Determination of consolidation and significant influence 
scope of certain pledged securities in money lending 
(Continued)
In conducting the assessment to determine this consolidation 
and significant influence scope, the directors of the Company 
considers whether the rights held by the Group are substantive 
and whether are there any barriers (economic or otherwise) 
that prevent or deter the Group from exercising its rights 
based on all facts and circumstances. The management 
assessed and determined that there are financial disincentives 
and/or legal or regulatory requirements that prevent or deter 
the Group from exercising its rights based on all facts and 
circumstances for all relevant cases of pledged companies 
in current year.

5. Segment Information
Information reported to the executive directors of the 
Company, being the chief operating decision makers, for 
the purposes of resources allocation and assessment of 
segment performance focuses on types of services provided.

Given the Group has transformed and upgraded both 
brokerage and placing and underwriting businesses to wealth 
solutions business, aiming to providing retail and high net 
worth clients with comprehensive financial services and 
investments solutions, the Group decided to merge these 
two segments into one under the name of “Wealth Solutions” 
segment.

Comparative figures for the prior year have been restated to 
conform to the presentation for current year.

According to HKFRS 8, the Group has the following operating 
and reportable segments:

(a) Wealth Solutions – Provision of global investment, 
wealth management and 
asset management services

(b) Financing – Provision of margin financing 
and money lending services

(c) Corporate finance – Provision of corporate finance 
advisory services

4. 

5. 

8
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5. Segment Information (Continued)
Segment revenue and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and 
results by operating and reportable segments:

For the year ended 30 September 2024

Wealth Corporate
solutions Financing finance Elimination Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

REVENUE 
Segment revenue – 

external customers
Commission and fee 

income 226,144 – 10,837 – 236,981
Interest income 51,889 242,758 – – 294,647
Inter-segment sales – 267,622 – (267,622) –       

278,033 510,380 10,837 (267,622) 531,628
       

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates.

Wealth Corporate
solutions Financing finance Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

RESULTS 
Segment results 29,215 66,572 (1,175) 94,612      
Unallocated other income and 

gains or losses 2,584
Unallocated corporate 

expenses 
– staff costs (including 

directors’ remuneration 
but excluding staff 
commission expenses) (3,702)

– service charge to related 
companies 

(note 33(a)(ii)) 33(a)(ii) (22,041)
– others (5,323)      

Profit before tax 66,130
Income tax credit   231      
Profit for the year 66,361
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5. Segment Information (Continued)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)
For the year ended 30 September 2023 (Restated)

Wealth Corporate
solutions Financing finance Elimination Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

REVENUE 
Segment revenue – 

external customers
Commission and fee 

income 64,082 – 13,275 – 77,357
Interest income 40,618 323,071 – – 363,689
Inter-segment sales – 310,323 – (310,323) –       

104,700 633,394 13,275 (310,323) 441,046
       

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates.

Wealth Corporate
solutions Financing finance Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

RESULTS 
Segment results 19,597 (145,575) (4,028) (130,006)      
Unallocated other income and 

gains or losses 3,426
Unallocated corporate 

expenses 
– staff costs (including 

directors’ remuneration 
but excluding staff 
commission expenses) (4,585)

– service charge to related 
companies 

(note 33(a)(ii)) 33(a)(ii) (22,168)
– others (7,462)      

Loss before tax (160,795)
Income tax credit 157      
Loss for the year (160,638)

      

5. 

2023 9 30



Emperor Capital Group Limited   
Annual Report 2023 / 2024 108

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 September 2024 2024 9 30

5. 
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5. Segment Information (Continued)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the 
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 
3. Segment results represents the profit (loss) earned by 
each segment without allocation of central administration 
costs (including directors’ remuneration but excluding staff 
commission expenses), unallocated other income and gains 
or losses and service charge to related companies. This is the 
measure reported to the executive directors of the Company 
for the purpose of resources allocation and performance 
assessment. No analysis of segment asset and segment 
liability is presented as the chief operating decision maker 
does not regularly review such information for the purposes 
of resources allocation and performance assessment. 
Therefore, only segment revenue and segment results are 
presented.

Other segment information
For the year ended 30 September 2024

Wealth Corporate
solutions Financing finance Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Additions of property and 
equipment 4,124 – – 4,124

Addition of right-of-use assets 160 – – 160
Depreciation of property and 

equipment 2,567 329 4 2,900
Depreciation of right-of-use 

assets 1,096 1,060 381 2,537
Impairment allowances on 

accounts receivable, net 
of reversal 3,038 3,951 2,731 9,720

Impairment allowances on 
loans and advances, net of 
reversal – 149,211 – 149,211

Finance costs 667 2,837 – 3,504
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5. Segment Information (Continued)
Other segment information (Continued)
For the year ended 30 September 2023 (Restated)

Wealth Corporate
solutions Financing finance Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Additions of property and 
equipment 3,432 – – 3,432

Addition of right-of-use assets 6,354 14,995 4,066 25,415
Depreciation of property and 

equipment 3,248 572 7 3,827
Depreciation of right-of-use 

assets 1,384 2,603 705 4,692
Impairment allowance on 

right-of-use assets – 12,392 3,361 15,753
Impairment allowances on 

accounts receivable, net of 
reversal 182 204,407 1,545 206,134

Impairment allowances on loans 
and advances, net of reversal – 197,504 – 197,504

Finance costs 576 14,295 – 14,871
      

Geographical information
The following illustrates the geographical analysis of (i) 
the Group’s revenue from its external customers, based on 
the country from which the trades are derived in relation to 
brokerage revenue from overseas products trading and/or 
based on the country in which the customers are located in 
relation to financing, brokerage, placing and underwriting and 
corporate finance revenue, and (ii) the Group’s non-current 
assets, based on the geographical location of the assets:

Revenue Non-current assets

2024 2023 2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong 529,040 436,686 18,881 18,553
United States 2,586 4,358 – –
Others 2 2 757 1,393      

531,628 441,046 19,638 19,946
      

Note: Non-current assets excluded financial instruments and deferred 
tax assets.

Information about major customer
For the years ended 30 September 2024 and 30 September 
2023, there was no single customer who contributed 10% or 
more of the Group’s revenue.
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6. Revenue
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 
Commission and fee income 

(Note (i)): (i)
Commission and fees income on 

dealing in securities 
(Note (ii))

(i i)
55,138 49,491

Commission and fees income on 
dealing in futures and 
options contracts (Note (ii)) (i i) 5,239 7,240

Commission from insurance 
brokerage and wealth 
management (Note (ii))

(i i)
1,187 879

Placing and underwriting 
commission (Note (ii)) (i i) 164,580 6,472

Corporate finance advisory services 
fee income (Note (iii)) (i i i) 10,837 13,275    

236,981 77,357    
Interest income: 

Interest income from margin and 
initial public offer 
(“IPO”) financing (Note (iv))

(iv) 43,549 72,444
Interest income from loans and 

advances (Note (iv)) (iv) 199,209 250,627
Interest income from bank deposits 

(Note (ii)) (i i) 51,158 39,905
Others (Note (ii)) (i i) 731 713    

294,647 363,689    
531,628 441,046

    

Notes:

(i) The commission and fee income is the only revenue arising under 
the scope of HKFRS 15, while interest income is under the scope 
of HKFRS 9.

Included in revenue, revenue arising from contracts with customers 
recognised at a point in time and over time were HK$226,144,000 
(2023: HK$64,082,000) and HK$10,837,000 (2023: HK$13,275,000), 
respectively.

All services provided to customers are for periods of one year or 
less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated 
to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

(ii) Amounts are reported under wealth solutions segment as set out 
in Note 5.

(iii) Amounts are reported under corporate finance segment set out in 
Note 5.

(iv) Amounts are reported under financing segment set out in Note 5.

6. 
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7. Other Income or Income and Losses or Gains
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Other income and gains or losses: 
Other income 9,587 8,472
Exchange gains or losses, net 2,354 777

Loss incurred under wealth solutions 
business (Note) (145,898) –    

(133,957) 9,249
    

Note: During the year ended 30 September 2024, the Group incurred 
other expense from the disposal of bond instruments, which 
were obtained in the course of wealth solutions business, to 
independent third parties (2023: N/A).

8. Impairment Allowances on Financial Assets, 
Net of Reversal

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

Net impairment allowances on: 

Accounts receivable from the 
business of dealing in securities:
Secured margin loans 3,951 201,408
Others 3,220 –    

7,171 204,408
Accounts receivable from the 

business of corporate finance 2,549 1,726    
9,720 206,134

Loans and advances 149,211 197,504    
158,931 403,638

    

9. Staff Costs
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Staff costs represent the amounts paid 
and payable to the directors and 
employees and comprise:
Salaries, bonus and allowances 70,585 68,829
Contributions to retirement benefits 

scheme 3,299 3,153    
73,884 71,982
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10. Finance Costs
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on: 
Bank borrowings 2,818 14,279
Lease liabilities 666 576
Others 20 16    

3,504 14,871
    

11. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Emoluments
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 7 (2023: 8) 
directors and the chief executive were as follows:

For the year ended 30 September 2024

Executive directors Independent non-executive directors

       
Fan Chan Wong

Daisy Wong Man Seung, Sim Ling, Wan Tak Ming, Yu
Yeung Chi Fai Vanessa Irene Choi Ha Gary King Tin Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note 
(b), (d))

(Note 
(b), (f))

(Note 
(b), (f))

(Note 
(c), (j))

(Note 
(c), (i)) (Note (c))

(Note 
(c), (h))

(b) (d) (b) (f) (b) (f) (c) (j) (c) (i) (c) (c) (h)

Fees 250 250 250 148 102 250 250 1,500
Other remuneration 

Salaries and 
allowances 2,400 – – – – – – 2,400

Discretionary bonus 
(Note (a)) (a) – – – – – – – –

Contributions to 
retirement 
Benefits 
scheme 60 – – – – – – 60          

Total remuneration 2,710 250 250 148 102 250 250 3,960
          

10. 

11. 
7 2023 8

2024 9 30
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11. 

2023 9 30

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

(e) 2022 12
31

11. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Emoluments 
(Continued)
For the year ended 30 September 2023

Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
  

Choi Fan Wong
Daisy Suk Hing, Wong Man Seung, Poon Wan Tak Ming, Yu

Yeung Louisa Chi Fai Vanessa Yan Wai Choi Ha Gary King Tin Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note 
(b), (d))

(Note 
(b), (e))

(Note 
(b), (f))

(Note 
(b), (f))

(Note 
(c), (g))

(Note 
(c), (i)) (Note (c))

(Note 
(c), (h))

(b) (d) (b) (e) (b) (f) (b) (f) (c) (g) (c) (i) (c) (c) (h)

Fees 250 63 208 208 104 250 250 147 1,480
Other remuneration

Salaries and 
allowances

2,360 791 – – – – – – 3,151

Discretionary 
bonus 
(Note (a))

(a)
– – – – – – – – –

Contributions 
to retirement 
Benefits 
scheme

60 46 – – – – – – 106

           
Total remuneration 2,670 900 208 208 104 250 250 147 4,737

           

Notes:

(a) Discretionary bonus is determined as regard to the Group’s 
operating results, individual performance and comparable market 
statistics.

(b) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their 
services rendered in connection with the management of the affairs 
of the Company and its subsidiaries. There was no arrangement 
under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration 
during the year.

(c) The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above 
were for their services rendered as directors of the Company. There 
was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to 
waive any remuneration during the year.

(d) Ms. Daisy Yeung is also the Chief Executive of the Company and her 
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered 
by her as Chief Executive. No apportionment has been made as it 
is impracticable to apportion this amount among her services to 
the Company and its subsidiaries.

(e) Ms. Choi Suk Hing, Louisa retired as executive director with effect 
on 31 December 2022.
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11. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Emoluments 
(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(f) Mr. Wong Chi Fai and Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa were appointed 
as executive directors with effect on 1 December 2022.

(g) Mr. Poon Yan Wai retired as independent non-executive director 
with effect on 28 February 2023.

(h) Mr. Yu King Tin was appointed as independent non-executive 
director with effect on 28 February 2023.

(i) Ms. Wan Choi Ha was retired as independent non-executive director 
with effect on 27 February 2024.

(j) Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene was appointed as independent non-
executive director with effect on 27 February 2024.

12. Employees’ Remuneration
The five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group 
included one (2023: two) director of the Company for the year 
ended 30 September 2024, details of whose emoluments are 
included in the disclosures in note 11 above. The emoluments 
of the remaining four (2023: three) individuals for the year 
were as follows:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in 
kind 8,495 8,512

Bonus 405 790
Contributions to retirement benefits 

scheme 200 200    
9,100 9,502

    

The remunerations were within the following bands:

Number of employees

2024 2023

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001
2,000,000 1 –

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001
2,500,000 2 3

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001
3,000,000 1 1

    

During the year, no remuneration has been paid by the Group 
to any of the directors or the five highest paid individuals 
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as 
compensation for loss of office.

11. 

 

(f) 
2022 12 1

(g) 2023
2 28

(h) 
2023 2 28

(i) 2024
2 27

(j) 
2024 2 27

12. 
2 0 2 4 9 3 0

2023
11

2023
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13. 

14. 

2,000,000
8.25% 2,000,000

16.5%

1 6 . 5 %

2 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0
8.25% 2,000,000

16.5%

13. Profit (Loss) Before Tax
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit (loss) before tax has been 
arrived at after charging:

Other operating expenses: 
Auditor’s remuneration 2,420 2,835
Legal and professional fees 3,450 3,657
Advertising and promotion expenses 2,627 2,805
Information technology services and 

communication expenses 27,927 26,233
Depreciation of property and 

equipment 2,900 3,827
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 2,537 4,692
General and administrative expenses 15,244 15,466
Rates and building management fee 2,322 2,494
Settlement expenses 2,144 2,195
Miscellaneous expenses 12,517 9,794    

74,088 73,998
    

14. Income Tax Credit
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current year: 
Hong Kong Profits Tax – (278)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (15) (17)

Overprovision in prior year: 
Hong Kong 246 452

Deferred tax: 
Current year (Note 26) 26 – –    

231 157
    

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong 
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying 
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities 
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will 
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, 
the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is 
calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the estimated 
assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable 
profits above HK$2 million.
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14. Income Tax Credit (Continued)
Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) on 
Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) and Implementation Regulation 
of the EIT Law, the tax rate for the PRC subsidiaries is 25% 
for both years.

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit (loss) 
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income as follows:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit (loss) before tax 66,130 (160,795)
    

Income tax at applicable rate of 16.5% 16.5%
10,911 (26,531)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible 
for tax purpose 429 2,908

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax 
purpose (8,451) (6,578)

Overprovision in respect of prior years (246) (452)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not 

recognised (23,629) (18,195)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

21,194 49,721
Others (439) (1,030)    
Income tax credit for the year (231) (157)

    

As at 30 September 2024, the Group had unused estimated 
tax losses of approximately HK$3,385,613,000 (2023: 
HK$3,400,371,000) available for offset against future profits 
of the respective companies in which the losses arose. The 
unused tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely with 
no expiry date but subject to the approval of the Hong Kong 
Inland Revenue Department. As at 30 September 2024 and 
2023, no tax loss have been recognised as deferred tax assets 
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams, of which 
approximately HK$767,151,000 (2023: HK$730,685,000) 
arose from the impairment of amounts due from subsidiaries 
and was eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.

14. 

25%

2 0 2 4 9 3 0

3 , 3 8 5 , 6 1 3 , 0 0 0 2 0 2 3
3 , 4 0 0 , 3 7 1 , 0 0 0

2 0 2 4 2 0 2 3 9 3 0

7 6 7 , 1 5 1 , 0 0 0 2 0 2 3
730,685,000
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15. 

2024 9 30
2023 9 30

16. 
2024

2023

15. Profit (Loss) Per Share
The calculation of the basic earnings (loss) per share 
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the 
following data:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit (loss) 
Profit (loss) for the purpose of basic 

earnings (loss) per share 66,361 (160,638)
    

2024 2023
’000 ’000

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary 

shares for the purposes of basic 
earnings (loss) per share 6,740,846 6,740,846

    

Basic earnings (loss) per share HK0.98 cent HK(2.38) cent 
    

No diluted earnings (loss) per share for the years ended 30 
September 2024 and 30 September 2023 were presented as 
there were no potential ordinary shares outstanding during 
the years.

16. Dividend
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders 
of the Company during 2024, nor has any dividend been 
proposed since the end of the reporting period (2023: Nil).
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17. Property and Equipment
Furniture Computer

Leasehold and Office and other Motor
improvements fixtures equipment equipment vehicle Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

COST 
At 1 October 2022 2022 10 1 17,249 2,480 6,989 29,078 810 56,606
Additions 973 6 – 2,453 – 3,432
Written off (14,563) (1,540) (6,349) (12,868) – (35,320)        
At 30 September 2023 2023 9 30 3,659 946 640 18,663 810 24,718
Additions – 10 – 4,114 – 4,124
Disposal – – – (88) – (88)        
At 30 September 2024 2024 9 30 3,659 956 640 22,689 810 28,754        
ACCUMULATED 

DEPRECIATION AND 
IMPAIRMENT

At 1 October 2022 2022 10 1 16,535 2,284 6,820 23,939 135 49,713
Provided for the year 562 68 89 2,946 162 3,827
Written off (14,563) (1,540) (6,349) (12,868) – (35,320)        
At 30 September 2023 2023 9 30 2,534 812 560 14,017 297 18,220
Provided for the year 607 66 80 1,985 162 2,900
Disposal – – – (62) – (62)        
At 30 September 2024 2024 9 30 3,141 878 640 15,940 459 21,058        
CARRYING VALUES 
At 30 September 2024 2024 9 30 518 78 – 6,749 351 7,696

        

At 30 September 2023 2023 9 30 1,125 134 80 4,646 513 6,498
        

17. 
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17. 

20%
5

2 0 2 4 9 3 0

7 ,696 ,000 18 ,060 ,000
2 0 2 3 6 , 4 9 8 , 0 0 0

21,506,000

2024 9 30

20% 2023 18%

2024 9 30

12,392,000
2023 12,392,000

17. Property and Equipment (Continued)
All the above items of property and equipment are 
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the rate of 20% per 
annum, except that leasehold improvements are depreciated 
over the shorter of the lease terms or 5 years.

Impairment assessment
During the year ended 30 September 2024, as a result of the 
recurring losses of the Group and significant uncertainty on 
global and local economic environment, the management 
of the Group concluded there was indicator for impairment 
and conducted impairment assessment on property and 
equipment, and right-of-use assets of carrying amounts 
(before impairment allowance) of HK$7,696,000 and 
HK$18,060,000 (2023: HK$6,498,000 and HK$21,506,000), 
respectively. The Group estimates the recoverable amount 
of the cash-generating units of financing, brokerage services 
and corporate finance to which the assets belong when it is 
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, 
including allocation of corporate assets when reasonable and 
consistent basis can be established.

Financing
The recoverable amount of cash-generating unit has been 
determined based on a value in use calculation. That 
calculation uses cash flow projection based on financial 
budgets approved by the management of the Group covering 
the following 5 years with a pre-tax discount rate of 20% 
(2023: 18%) as at 30 September 2024.

Based on the result of the assessment, the management 
of the Group determined that the recoverable amount of 
cash-generating unit is lower than the carrying amount. The 
impairment amount has been allocated to each category 
of property and equipment and right-of-use assets such 
that the carrying amount of each category of asset is not 
reduced below the highest of its fair value less cost of 
disposal, its value in use and zero. Based on the value in use 
calculation and the allocation, impairment losses of HK$Nil 
and HK$12,392,000 (2023: HK$Nil and HK$12,392,000) have 
been recognised against the carrying amount of property 
and equipment and right-of-use assets as at 30 September 
2024, respectively.
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17. Property and Equipment (Continued)
Impairment assessment (Continued)
Wealth Solutions
The recoverable amount of cash-generating unit has been 
determined based on a value in use calculation. That 
calculation uses cash flow projection based on financial 
budgets approved by the management of the Group covering 
the following 5 years with a pre-tax discount rate of 20% 
(2023: 18%) as at 30 September 2024.

Based on the result of the assessment, the management of 
the Group determined that the recoverable amount of cash-
generating unit is above the carrying amount. Management 
believes that any reasonably possible change in any of these 
assumptions would not result in impairment.

Corporate finance
The recoverable amount of cash-generating unit has been 
determined based on a value in use calculation. That 
calculation uses cash flow projection based on financial 
budgets approved by the management of the Group covering 
the following 5 years with a pre-tax discount rate of 20% as 
at 30 September 2024.

Based on the result of the assessment, the management 
of the Group determined that the recoverable amount of 
cash-generating unit is lower than the carrying amount. The 
impairment amount has been allocated to each category 
of property and equipment and right-of-use assets such 
that the carrying amount of each category of asset is not 
reduced below the highest of its fair value less cost of 
disposal, its value in use and zero. Based on the value in use 
calculation and the allocation, impairment losses of HK$Nil 
and HK$3,361,000 have been recognised against the carrying 
amount of property and equipment and right-of-use assets 
as at 30 September 2024, respectively.

17. 

2024 9 30

20% 2023 18%

2024 9 30

20%

2024 9 30

3,361,000
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18. 

2024 2023 9 30

12 36
2 0 2 3 2 4 3 6

2024 9 30 12,418,000
2023 22,076,000

2,307,000
2023 5,753,000

18. Right-of-Use Assets
Leased

properties

HK$’000

As at 30 September 2024 2024 9 30
Carrying amount 2,307

   

As at 30 September 2023 2023 9 30
Carrying amount 5,753

   

For the year ended 30 September 2024 2024 9 30
Depreciation for the year (2,537)
Impairment for the year –
Additions 160
Early termination of leases (1,069)
Total cash outflow for leases (9,357)

   

For the year ended 30 September 2023 2023 9 30
Depreciation for the year (4,692)
Impairment for the year (15,753)
Additions 25,415
Early termination of a lease (887)
Total cash outflow for leases (10,796)

   

No expenses relating to short-term leases incurred for the 
years ended 30 September 2024 and 2023.

For both years, the Group leases various offices, an 
advertising billboard and server center for its operations. 
Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 12 months 
to 36 months (2023: 24 months to 36 months). Lease terms 
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide 
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the 
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable 
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and 
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

Lease liabilities of HK$12,418,000 (2023: HK$22,076,000) are 
recognised with related right-of-use assets of HK$2,307,000 
(2023: HK$5,753,000) as at 30 September 2024. The lease 
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the 
security interests in the leased assets that are held by 
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for 
borrowing purposes.
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18. Right-of-Use Assets (Continued)
Details of maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in 
notes 27 and 38.

Impairment assessment
Details of the impairment assessment of right-of-use assets 
are disclosed in note 17.

19. Intangible Assets
HK$’000

COST 
At 1 October 2022, 30 September 2023 and 30 

September 2024
2022 10 1 2023 9 30

2024 9 30 9,802
   

AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT 
At 1 October 2022, 30 September 2023 and 30 

September 2024
2022 10 1 2023 9 30

2024 9 30 9,802
   

CARRYING VALUES 
At 30 September 2024 2024 9 30 –

   

At 30 September 2023 2023 9 30 –
   

Trading rights were fully amortised over 10 years from 
the effective day of the merger of the Stock Exchange, the 
Hong Kong Futures Exchange and the Hong Kong Securities 
Clearing Company Limited to year of 2000.

20. Other Assets
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Statutory and other deposits 9,635 7,695
    

Statutory and other deposits primarily represent deposits 
with various exchanges and clearing houses. They are non-
interest bearing.

18. 
27

38

17

19. 

2000

10

20. 
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21. 21. Loans and Advances
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Fixed-rate loans receivable 2,188,495 2,575,923
Variable-rate loans receivable 191,358 197,076    

2,379,853 2,772,999
Less: Provision for impairment (840,261) (696,292)    

1,539,592 2,076,707
    

Analysed as: 
Current 1,263,046 1,615,488
Non-current 276,546 461,219    

1,539,592 2,076,707
    

The carrying amounts of the Group’s fixed-rate and variable-
rate loans receivable together with their remaining contractual 
maturity dates are as follows:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

Fixed-rate loans receivable: 
Within one year 722,686 1,071,674
In more than one year but no more 

than five years 25,238 174,334
Over five years 127,164 150,376    

875,088 1,396,384
Past due 492,062 493,958    

1,367,150 1,890,342
    

Variable-rate loans receivable: 
Within one year 4,532 4,612
In more than one year but no more 

than five years 21,262 21,069
Over five years 102,882 115,440    

128,676 141,121
Past due 43,766 45,244    

172,442 186,365
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21. Loans and Advances (Continued)
Details of movements in provision for impairment of loans 
and advances are set out in note 38.

The effective interest rates of the Group’s loans receivable 
are as follows:

2024 2023

Effective interest rates:

Fixed-rate loans receivable 0.67% per month to 3.83% 
per month

0.67% per month to 3.83% per 
month

0.67% 3.83% 0.67% 3.83%
Variable-rate loans receivable Prime rate – 2.5% per annum 

to prime rate per annum
Prime rate – 2.5% per annum 

to prime rate per annum
-2.5% -2.5%

As at 30 September 2024, 178 (2023: 241) secured 
loans with the aggregate gross amount of approximately 
HK$1,184,437,000 (2023: HK$1,596,228,000) were secured by 
first legal charges in respect of respective properties located 
in Hong Kong and Canada. They were advanced to various 
independent borrowers and will be due for repayment within 
1 to 30 years (2023: 1 to 30 years).

As at 30 September 2024, loans receivable amounting to 
approximately HK$548,230,000 (2023: HK$738,581,000) 
provided to independent third parties of the Group, were with 
second or third legal charges in respect of properties located 
in Hong Kong and Canada and will be due for repayment 
within 1 to 30 years (2023: 1 to 30 years) from the respective 
loans’ date of advance.

As at 30 September 2024, there is one (2023: two) secured 
term loan with the aggregate gross amount of approximately 
HK$93,345,000 (2023: HK$93,085,000). The borrower holds 
Hong Kong listed marketable securities under the securities 
account in one of the Group entities. The Group has the 
right to sell or require a sale of all these securities and 
use the proceeds to repay the outstanding loans in the 
event that the borrowers fail to pay the amount due on due 
date when the value of marketable securities is sufficient 
to cover the margin loan amount under the securities 
account. Subsequent to the year end, all these securities 
have been sold with proceeds used to partially repay the 
outstanding balance. The remaining gross balance of loans 
of approximately HK$302,777,000 (2023: HK$345,105,000) 
were unsecured.

21. 

38
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21. 
2024 9 30 2023 9 30

10%

38

22. 

38

21. Loans and Advances (Continued)
As at 30 September 2024 and 30 September 2023, there are 
no individual loans with net carrying amount, on an individual 
basis, being more than 10% of the net carrying amount of 
the total loans and advances.

Details of credit risk profile disclosure are set out in “credit 
risk and impairment assessment” in note 38.

22. Accounts Receivable
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Accounts receivable from the business 
of dealing in securities:
Clearing houses, dealers, brokers and 

cash clients 294,439 65,133
Secured margin loans 1,570,343 2,006,820
IPO margin loans – 1,110

Accounts receivable from the business 
of dealing in futures contracts:
Clearing houses, brokers and margin 

clients 65,503 74,045
Accounts receivable from the business 

of corporate finance and placing 
and underwriting 67,865 6,173    

1,998,150 2,153,281
Less: provision for impairment (1,298,376) (1,641,364)    

699,774 511,917
    

The settlement terms of accounts receivable, except for 
secured margin loans and IPO margin loans, arising from 
the business of dealing in securities are two days after trade 
date, and of accounts receivable arising from the business 
of dealing in futures contracts are one day after trade date.

Normal settlement terms of accounts receivable from the 
business of corporate finance and placing and underwriting 
are determined in accordance with the contractual terms. The 
Group seeks to maintain tight control over its outstanding 
accounts receivable from the business of corporate finance 
in order to minimise the credit risk.

Details of credit risk profile disclosure are set out in “credit 
risk and impairment assessment” in note 38.
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22. Accounts Receivable (Continued)
As at 30 September 2024, accounts receivable from 
foreign brokers denominated in Australian dollar, Renminbi, 
Singapore dollar, British Pound, Euro and United States 
dollar were approximately HK$212,000 (2023: HK$199,000), 
HK$59,567,000(2023: HK$1,000), HK$Nil (2023: HK$14,000), 
HK$47,000 (2023: HK$43,000), HK$88,000 (2023: HK$84,000) 
and HK$79,387,000 (2023: HK$50,846,000) respectively.

As at 30 September 2024 and 30 September 2023, no 
individual account represented more than 10% of the total 
balance of accounts receivable.

No ageing analysis of secured margin loans and IPO margin 
loans is disclosed as in the opinion of the executive directors 
of the Company, the ageing analysis does not give additional 
value in view of the nature of this business.

The ageing analysis of the remaining balance of the accounts 
receivable (before impairment) are as follows:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 30 days 0 30 6,223 1,395
31 – 60 days 31 60 1,261 988
61 – 90 days 61 90 531 620
Over 90 days 90 4,224 3,386    
Accounts receivable which were past 

due 12,239 6,389
Accounts receivable which were not 

past due 415,568 138,962    
427,807 145,351

    

23. Pledged Bank Deposits – General Accounts
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Pledged bank deposits 260,000 160,000
    

The deposits of HK$260,000,000 (2023: HK$160,000,000) 
with a bank were to secure the banking facilities granted 
to the Group to the extent of HK$260,000,000 (2023: 
HK$160,000,000). As of 30 September 2024 and 30 
September 2023, no bank deposits were utilised to secure 
any bank borrowings.

22. 
2024 9 30

212,000 2023
1 9 9 , 0 0 0 5 9 , 5 6 7 , 0 0 0

2023 1,000 2023
14 ,000 47 ,000 2023
43 ,000 88 ,000 2023
8 4 , 0 0 0 7 9 , 3 8 7 , 0 0 0

2023 50,846,000

2024 9 30 2023 9 30

10%

23. 

2 6 0 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0 2 0 2 3
160,000,000

260,000,000 2023
160,000,000 2024

9 30 2023 9 30
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24. 

 

2024 9 30

8,000
2023 76 ,000 37 ,000
2023 84,000 4,000

2023 3,000 356,499,000
2023 281,593,000 12,786,000

2023 14,493,000 10,000
2 0 2 3 1 0 , 0 0 0

5,812,000 2023 5,807,000

25. 

24. Bank Balances and Cash
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank balances 
– segregated accounts (Note) 1,478,077 1,406,891
– general accounts and cash 1,260,778 1,002,263    

2,738,855 2,409,154
    

Note: The Group receives and holds money deposited by clients and 
other institutions in the course of the conduct of the regulated 
activities. These clients’ money are maintained in one or more 
segregated bank accounts and bear interest at commercial rates. 
The Group has recognised the corresponding accounts payable 
to respective clients and other institutions. However, the Group 
currently does not have an enforceable right to offset those 
payables with the deposits placed.

As at 30 September 2024, bank balances and cash 
denominated in Australian dollar, Canadian dollar, Japanese 
Yen, United States dollar, Renminbi, British Pound and 
Singapore dollar, are approximately HK$8,000 (2023: 
HK$76,000), HK$37,000 (2023: HK$84,000), HK$4,000 
(2023: HK$3,000), HK$356,499,000 (2023: HK$281,593,000), 
HK$12,786,000 (2023: HK$14,493,000), HK$10,000 (2023: 
HK$10,000) and HK$5,812,000 (2023: HK$5,807,000) 
respectively.

25. Accounts Payable
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Accounts payable from the business of 
dealing in securities:
– Clearing houses and brokers 6,163 20,345
– Margin and cash clients 1,484,863 1,330,000

Accounts payable from the business of 
dealing in futures contracts:
– Margin clients 259,550 187,365    

1,750,576 1,537,710
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25. Accounts Payable (Continued)
The settlement terms of accounts payable, except for margin 
clients, arising from the business of dealing in securities 
are two days after trade date and accounts payable arising 
from the business of dealing in futures contracts are one 
day after trade date. No ageing analysis is disclosed as in 
the opinion of the executive directors of the Company, the 
ageing analysis does not give additional value in view of the 
nature of this business.

Accounts payable to margin and cash clients arising from the 
business of dealing in securities and dealing in futures bear 
interest at commercial rates, and are repayable on demand 
subsequent to settlement date.

Included in accounts payable, amounts of approximately 
HK$1,478,077,000 and HK$1,406,891,000 as at 30 
September 2024 and 30 September 2023 respectively were 
payable to clients and other institutions in respect of the 
segregated bank balances received and held for clients and 
other institutions in the course of conducting the regulated 
activities. However, the Group currently does not have an 
enforceable right to offset these accounts payable with the 
deposits placed.

As at 30 September 2024, accounts payable denominated 
in Australian dollar, Japanese Yen, United States dollar, 
Singapore dollar and Renminbi were approximately 
HK$2,000 (2023: HK$71,000), HK$4,000 (2023: HK$3,000), 
HK$313,295,000 (2023: HK$222,945,000), HK$32,000 (2023: 
HK$162,000) and HK$6,802,000 (2023: HK$4,460,000) 
respectively.

26. Deferred Tax Assets
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Deferred tax assets 590 590
    

25. 

2024 9 30 2023 9
30

1,478,077,000
1,406,891,000

2 0 2 4 9 3 0

2,000 2023 71,000
4 , 0 0 0 2 0 2 3 3 , 0 0 0
3 1 3 , 2 9 5 , 0 0 0 2 0 2 3

2 2 2 , 9 4 5 , 0 0 0 3 2 , 0 0 0
2023 162,000 6,802,000

2023 4,460,000

26. 
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26. 

27. 

28. 

26. Deferred Tax Assets (Continued)
The following are the deferred tax assets recognised and 
movements thereon during the current and prior years:

Accelerated
 tax ECL

depreciation provision Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 30 September 2022, 30 
September 2023 
and 30 September 2024

2022 9 30
2023 9 30

2024 9 30 177 413 590
     

27. Lease Liabilities
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Lease liabilities payable: 
Within one year 8,193 9,320
Within a period of more than one year 

but not more than two years 4,225 12,756    
12,418 22,076

Less: Amount due for settlement 
within 12 months shown 
under current liabilities

12
(8,193) (9,320)    

Amount due for settlement after 
12 months shown under 
non-current liabilities

12
4,225 12,756

    

28. Short-Term Bank Borrowings
2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

The carrying amounts of bank loans 
that contain a repayment on demand 
clause (shown under current 
liabilities) but repayable:

On demand due to breach of loan 
covenants – 210,000
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28. Short-Term Bank Borrowings (Continued)
The balance as of 30 September 2023 represented unsecured 
bank borrowings and carried interest at HIBOR+2% p.a. The 
short-term bank borrowings were fully repaid during the year 
ended 30 September 2024.

29. Share Capital
Number of ordinary shares Nominal value of

of HK$0.01 each ordinary shares
0.01

2024 2023 2024
HK$’000

2023
HK$’000

Authorised: 
At beginning of 

year 500,000,000,000 500,000,000,000 5,000,000 5,000,000      
At end of year 500,000,000,000 500,000,000,000 5,000,000 5,000,000

      

Issued and fully paid:
At beginning of 

year 6,740,845,724 6,740,845,724 67,408 67,408      
At end of year 6,740,845,724 6,740,845,724 67,408 67,408

      

30. Share Options
The shareholders of the Company passed an ordinary 
resolution at the annual general meeting of the Company 
held on 26 January 2017 to approve the adoption of a share 
option scheme of the Company which became effective on 
27 January 2017 (“2017 Share Option Scheme”). A summary 
of the 2017 Share Option Scheme is set out as follows:

1. Purpose of the 2017 Share Option Scheme
To enable the Group to attract, retain and motivate 
talented eligible participants to strive for future 
developments and expansion of the Group.

2. Eligibility
Eligible participants include employees (whether full-
time or part time, including Non-executive Directors) and 
such other eligible participants.

3. Shares available for issue under the 2017 
Share Option Scheme
(i) Total number of shares available for issue as at 19 

December 2024 (i.e. the date of approval of these 
financial statements) under the 2017 Share Option 
Scheme: 674,084,572 shares.

(ii) Percentage of the issued shares that it represents as 
at the date of approval of these financial statements: 
10%.

28. 
2023 9 30

2%
2024 9 30

29. 

30. 
2017 1 26

2017 1 27 2017
2017

1. 2017

2. 

3. 2017

(i) 2024 12 19
2017

674,084,572

(ii) 
10%
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30. 
4. 2017

(i) 
12

1%

(ii) 12

0.1%
5,000,000

5. 

10

6. 

7. (i) 
1.00

(ii) 
28

(ii i) 

8. 

(i)
(ii)

( i i i)

30. Share Options (Continued)
4. Maximum entitlement of each eligible 

participant under the 2017 Share Option 
Scheme
(i) in aggregate not to exceed 1% of the shares in issue 

in any 12-month period unless approved by the 
shareholders; and

(ii) options granted to substantial shareholders 
or Independent Non-executive Directors or their 
respective associates in any 12-month period 
exceeding the higher of 0.1% of the shares 
in issue and with an aggregate value in excess 
of HK$5,000,000 must be approved by the 
shareholders of the Company.

5. Period within which the shares must be 
taken up under an option
At any time from the date of grant of the option to such 
a date determined by the Board but in any event no 
exceeding 10 years from the date of grant.

6. Minimum period for which an option must 
be held before it can be exercised
No minimum period unless otherwise determined by 
the Board.

7. (i) Price payable on application or acceptance of the 
option: HK$1.00;

(ii) The period within which payments or calls must or 
may be made: Within 28 days from the date of grant;

(iii) Period within which loans for such purposes of the 
payments or calls must be repaid: Not applicable.

8. Basis for determining the exercise price:
The exercise price is determined by the Board (subject 
to adjustment) and will not be less than the highest 
of (i) the closing price of the share as stated in the 
daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the 
date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the 
shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the 
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately 
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value 
of a share.
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30. Share Options (Continued)
9. The remaining life of the 2017 Share Option 

Scheme:
The 2017 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and 
effective for a period of 10 years commencing on its 
effective date, being 27 January 2017.

During the years ended 30 September 2024 and 2023, no 
option was granted, exercised, cancelled, lapsed or remained 
outstanding under the 2017 Share Option Scheme and no 
share-based payment expenses have been recognised in both 
current and prior years.

31. Retirement Benefits Scheme
The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme 
which is registered under the Hong Kong Occupational 
Retirement Schemes Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”) and 
a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) 
established under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident 
Fund Scheme Ordinance in December 2000. The assets 
of the schemes are held separately from those of the 
Group, in funds under the control of independent trustees. 
Employees who were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to 
the establishment of the MPF Scheme were offered a choice 
of staying within the ORSO Scheme or switching to the MPF 
Scheme, whereas all new employees joining the Group on or 
after 1 December 2000 are required to join the MPF Scheme.

The retirement benefit costs charged to the profit or loss 
represent contributions payable to the funds by the Group 
at rates specified in the rules of the schemes. Where there 
are employees who leave the ORSO Scheme prior to vesting 
fully in the contributions, the contributions payable by the 
Group are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions.

At 30 September 2024 and 30 September 2023, no forfeited 
contributions arose upon employees leaving the ORSO 
Scheme.

30. 
9. 2017

2017
2 0 1 7 1 2 7 1 0

2024 2023 9 30
2017

31. 

2000 12

2000 12 1

2024 9 30 2023 9 30



Emperor Capital Group Limited  
Annual Report 2023 / 2024 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 September 2024 2024 9 30

133

32. 32. Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from 
Financing Activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s lease 
liabilities and borrowings arising from financing activities, 
including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising 
from financing activities are those for which cash flows 
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s 
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from 
financing activities.

Short-term
bank 

borrowings
Lease

liabilities Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 October 2022 2022 10 1 430,000 7,786 437,786
Financing cash flows (220,000) (10,796) (230,796)
Interest expense – 576 576
Early termination of a lease – (905) (905)
New leases entered – 25,415 25,415     
At 30 September 2023 2023 9 30 210,000 22,076 232,076
Financing cash flows (210,000) (8,691) (218,691)
Operating cash flows – (666) (666)
Interest expense – 666 666
Early termination of leases – (1,127) (1,127)
New leases entered – 160 160     
At 30 September 2024 2024 9 30 – 12,418 12,418
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33. Related Party Transactions
(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in 

these consolidated financial statements, the Group 
had the following significant transactions with related 
parties:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

(i) Corporate finance advisory 
services fee income 
from related companies 
(notes 3 & 5) 

(i) 

3 & 5) 4,156 4,635
    

(ii) Sharing of information 
technology services and 
administrative expenses 
paid and payable to related 
companies (notes 2 & 5) 

(i i) 

2 & 5) 22,041 22,168
    

(iii) Commission and brokerage 
income from directors 
of the Company (notes 1 & 3) 

(i i i) 

1 & 3) 5 2
    

(iv) Interest income from directors 
of the Company (notes 1 & 3) 

(iv) 

1 & 3) 63 41
    

(v) Printing, advertising and 
promotion expenses to related 
companies (notes 2 & 5) 

(v) 

2 & 5) 632 866
    

(vi) Accounts payable to margin 
and cash clients arising 
from business of dealing 
in securities by – directors 
of the Company (notes 1 & 2) 

(vi) 

1 & 2) 208 541
    

(vii) Rental and other deposits 
paid to related companies 
(notes 2, 4 & 5) 

(vii) 

2 4 5) 2,741 3,236
    

(viii) Interest expense from lease 
payable to related companies 
(notes 3, 5 & 6) 

(viii) 

3 5 6) 649 517
    

(ix) Lease liabilities payable 
to related companies 
(notes 3, 5 & 6)

(ix) 

3 5 6) 11,995 21,204
    

33. 
(a) 
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33. 
(a) 

(1) 

(2) 14A.33

(3) 

14A

14A

(4) 

1

(5) 

(6) 
6 4 9 , 0 0 0 2 0 2 3

5 1 7 , 0 0 0 2 0 2 4 9
3 0

1 1 , 9 9 5 , 0 0 0 2 0 2 3
2 1 , 2 0 4 , 0 0 0

1 1 , 3 1 4 , 0 0 0 2 0 2 3
20,622,000

2024 9 30

8 ,179 ,000 2023
9,517,000

(b) 
11 12

33. Related Party Transactions (Continued)
(a) (Continued)

Notes:

(1) For the transactions with the director(s) of the Company, 
the directors include a director who is one of the eligible 
beneficiaries of the relevant private discretionary trusts set up 
by Dr. Albert Yeung who is the deemed controlling shareholder 
of the Company.

(2) These transactions are connected transactions exempted 
from reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ 
approval requirements under Rule 14A.33 of the Listing Rules.

(3) These or some of these transactions are disclosable 
continuing connected transactions (as defined under 
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules) of the Company of which 
details have been set out in the section headed “Continuing 
Connected Transactions” under “Directors’ Material Interests 
in Transactions, Arrangements or Contracts and Connected 
Transactions” of the Directors’ Report. The directors 
confirmed that the Company has complied with the disclosure 
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing 
Rules.

(4) This amount represents refundable rental deposits and other 
deposits paid for the continuing connected transactions 
as set out in item 1 of the section headed “Continuing 
Connected Transactions” under “Directors’ Material Interests 
in Transactions, Arrangements or Contracts and Connected 
Transactions” of the Director’s Report.

(5) The related companies are ultimately controlled by the 
relevant private discretionary trusts set up by Dr. Albert Yeung 
who is the deemed controlling shareholder of the Company.

(6) During the current year, interest expenses of HK$649,000 
(2023: HK$517,000) was incurred in relation to lease payable 
to related companies. As at 30 September 2024, lease 
liabilities payable to related companies was HK$11,995,000 
(2023: HK$21,204,000) and the corresponding carrying 
amount (before impairment allowances) of the right-of-
use assets was HK$11,314,000 (2023: HK$20,622,000). 
The total cash outflow for leases with related companies 
for the year ended 30 September 2024 was HK$8,179,000 
(2023: HK$9,517,000) in accordance with the relevant rental 
agreements.

(b) The compensation to directors and key management 
personnel was disclosed in notes 11 and 12.
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34. Principal Subsidiaries
Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 30 
September 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries

Place of
incorporation/
operation

Issued and fully
paid capital/

registered capital

Percentage of equity 
attributable to the 

Company Principal activities

30.9.2024 30.9.2023
% %

Easy Facility Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Provision of money 
lending services

1

Emperor Asset Management Limited Hong Kong HK$7,000,000 100 100 Provision of asset 
management services

7,000,000

Emperor Corporate Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100 100 Provision of 
corporate finance 
advisory services

10,000,000

Emperor Capital (China) Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 100 100 Provision of promotion 
and marketing services 
in the PRC

100,000

Emperor Capital Management 
Limited

Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 Provision of 
management services

2

Emperor Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 Provision of money 
lending services

2

Emperor Futures Limited Hong Kong HK$50,000,000 100 100 Provision of futures 
brokerage services

50,000,000

Emperor Prestige Credit Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100 100 Provision of money 
lending services

1,000,000

34. 
2024 2023 9 30



Emperor Capital Group Limited  
Annual Report 2023 / 2024 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 September 2024 2024 9 30

137

34. 

# 

Name of subsidiaries

Place of
incorporation/
operation

Issued and fully
paid capital/

registered capital

Percentage of equity 
attributable to the 

Company Principal activities

30.9.2024 30.9.2023
% %

Emperor Securities Limited Hong Kong HK$900,000,000 100 100 Provision of securities 
brokerage services 
and margin 
financing services

900,000,000

Emperor Wealth Management 
Limited

Hong Kong HK$6,500,000 100 100 Provision of 
insurance and other 
brokerage Services

6,500,000

Super Team (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100 100 Provision of business 
advisory services

100

( ) # PRC HK$1,000,000 100 100 Business development in 
the PRC

1,000,000

( ) # PRC HK$1,000,000 100 100 Business development in 
the PRC

1,000,000

( ) # PRC HK$500,000 100 100 Business development in 
the PRC

500,000

# The subsidiary is a wholly foreign owned enterprise.

34. Principal Subsidiaries (Continued)
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34. Principal Subsidiaries (Continued)
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, 
in the opinion of the executive directors, principally affected 
the results or net assets of the Group.

To give details of all subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the 
executive directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding 
at the end of the year, or at any time during the year.

35. Summary Financial Information of the 
Company

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets 
Investment in a subsidiary 219,003 219,003
Subordinated loan due from 

a subsidiary – 2,150,000    
219,003 2,369,003    

Current assets 
Amounts due from subsidiaries 2,862,283 2,871,481
Other assets 222 222
Bank balances and cash 22,502 28,629    

2,885,007 2,900,332    
Current liabilities 

Other creditors and accrued charges 
572 1,078

Amount due to a subsidiary 
– 2,007,968

Short-term bank borrowings – 210,000    
572 2,219,046    

Net current assets 2,884,435 681,286    
Total assets less current liabilities 3,103,438 3,050,289    
Net assets 3,103,438 3,050,289

    

Capital and reserves 
Share capital 67,408 67,408
Reserves 3,036,030 2,982,881    

Total equity (Note) 3,103,438 3,050,289
    

34. 

35. 
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35. 

2007 4 2

36. 

35. Summary Financial Information of the 
Company (Continued)
Note:

Share
capital

Share
premium

Special
reserve

Accumulated
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 October 2022 2022 10 1 67,408 3,184,623 101,953 (460,893) 2,893,091       
Profit and total comprehensive 

income for the year – – – 157,198 157,198       
At 30 September 2023 2023 9 30 67,408 3,184,623 101,953 (303,695) 3,050,289
Profit and total comprehensive 

income for the year – – – 53,149 53,149       
At 30 September 2024 2024 9 30 67,408 3,184,623 101,953 (250,546) 3,103,438

       

Special reserve represents the difference between nominal value of the 
ordinary shares of the subsidiaries of the Company in issue and the 
nominal value of the shares issued by the Company for acquisition of a 
subsidiary pursuant to a group reorganisation on 2 April 2007.

36. Capital Risk Management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in 
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern 
while maximising the return to shareholders through the 
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The capital 
structure of the Group consists of debts, which include short-
term bank borrowings as disclosed in respective note, and 
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising 
issued share capital and reserves as set out on the 
consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and respective notes. The 
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from the prior 
year.

The management reviews the capital structure by considering 
the cost of capital and the risks associated with the share 
capital. In view of this, the Group manages its overall capital 
structure through the drawdown and repayment of bank 
borrowings, issue of bonds, payment of dividends and issue 
of share capital.
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36. Capital Risk Management (Continued)
Several subsidiaries of the Group (the “Regulated 
Subsidiaries”) are registered with Securities and Futures 
Commission (“SFC”) for the business they operate in. 
The Regulated Subsidiaries are subject to liquid capital 
requirements under Securities and Futures (Financial 
Resources) Rules (“SF(FR)R”) adopted by the SFC. Under 
the SF(FR)R, the Regulated Subsidiaries must maintain 
their liquid capital in excess of HK$3 million or 5% of their 
total adjusted liabilities, whichever is higher. The required 
information is filed with SFC on a monthly basis.

Another subsidiary of the Group is licensed with the 
Insurance Authority. It is required to maintain a minimum 
net asset value of HK$100,000 at all times.

37. Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
Offsetting
The disclosures set out in the tables below include 
financial assets and financial liabilities that are subject 
to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar 
agreement that covers similar financial instruments that 
are either:

• offset in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial 
position; or

• not offset in the consolidated statement of financial 
position as the offsetting criteria are not met.

Under the agreement of continuous net settlement made 
between the Group and Hong Kong Securities Clearing 
Company Limited (“HKSCC”) and brokers, the Group has a 
legally enforceable right to set off the money obligations 
receivable and payable with HKSCC and brokers on the 
same settlement date and the Group intends to settle on a 
net basis.

In addition, the Group has a legally enforceable right to set 
off the accounts receivable and payable with brokerage 
clients that are due to be settled on the same date and the 
Group intends to settle these balances on a net basis.

36. 

SF(FR)R
SF(FR)R

3,000,000
5%

100,000

37. 
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37. 

2024 9 30

37. Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
Offsetting (Continued)
Except for balances which are due to be settled on the same 
date which are being offset, amounts due from/to HKSCC, 
dealers, brokers and brokerage clients that are not to be 
settled on the same date, financial collateral including cash 
and securities received by the Group, deposit placed with 
HKSCC and brokers do not meet the criteria for offsetting in 
the consolidated statement of financial position since the 
right of set-off of the recognised amounts is only enforceable 
following an event of default.

As at 30 September 2024
Gross Net

amounts of amounts of
recognised financial Related amounts

financial assets not set off in the
liabilities presented in consolidated statement

Gross set off in the the of financial position
amounts of consolidated consolidated
recognised statement statement

financial of financial of financial Financial Collateral
assets position position instruments received Net amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets 
Amounts due from 

clearing house, 
dealers, brokers and 
brokerage clients 982,362 (340,072) 642,290 (64,582) (286,157) 291,551

        

Deposits placed with 
clearing house

9,635 – 9,635 – – 9,635
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37. Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
Offsetting (Continued)
As at 30 September 2024 (Continued)

Gross Net
amounts of amounts of
recognised financial Related amounts not

financial liabilities set off in the
assets set presented in consolidated statement

Gross off in the the of financial position
amounts of consolidated consolidated
recognised statement statement

financial of financial of financial Financial Collateral
liabilities position position instruments pledged Net amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial liabilities 
Amounts due to clearing 

house, dealers, brokers 
and brokerage clients

2,090,648 (340,072) 1,750,576 (64,582) – 1,685,994
        

As at 30 September 2023
Gross Net

amounts of amounts of
recognised financial Related amounts

financial assets not set off in the
liabilities presented in consolidated statement

Gross set off in the the of financial position
amounts of consolidated consolidated
recognised statement statement

financial of financial of financial Financial Collateral
assets position position instruments received Net amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets 
Amounts due from 

clearing house, 
dealers, brokers and 
brokerage clients 652,799 (140,882) 511,917 (38,182) (376,288) 97,448

        

Deposits placed with 
clearing house 7,695 – 7,695 – – 7,695

        

37. 
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37. Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
Offsetting (Continued)

Gross Net
amounts of amounts of
recognised financial Related amounts not

financial liabilities set off in the
assets set presented in consolidated statement

Gross off in the the of financial position
amounts of consolidated consolidated
recognised statement statement

financial of financial of financial Financial Collateral
liabilities position position instruments pledged Net amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial liabilities 
Amounts due to clearing 

house, dealers, brokers 
and brokerage clients

1,678,592 (140,882) 1,537,710 (38,182) – 1,499,528
        

38. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include other debtors 
and deposits, accounts receivable, loans and advances, bank 
balances and cash, pledged bank deposits, accounts payable, 
short-term bank borrowings, lease liabilities and other 
creditors. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed 
in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial 
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these 
risks are set out below. The management manages and 
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures 
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

37. 

38. 
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38. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies (Continued)
Market risk
Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk of loss due to adverse movements 
in foreign exchange rates relating to receivables from and 
payables to foreign brokers and foreign currency deposits 
with banks. The management monitors foreign exchange 
exposures and will consider hedging significant foreign 
exchange exposures should the need arise.

It is the Group’s policy for each operating entity to operate 
in local currencies as far as possible to minimise currency 
risks. Most of the Group’s principal businesses are conducted 
and recorded in Hong Kong dollar, the functional currency 
of respective group entities, except for certain receivables 
from and payables to foreign brokers and bank deposits 
which are denominated in Australian dollar, Canadian dollar, 
United States dollar, Renminbi, Japanese Yen, British Pound 
and Singapore dollar (see notes 22, 24 and 25 for details). 
The executive directors of the Company considered that 
the effect of currency risk is insignificant as the Group has 
minimal exposure in Australian dollar, Renminbi, Japanese 
Yen, Euro, British Pound and Singapore dollar and there is 
the linked exchange rate system of Hong Kong dollar against 
United States dollar. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis in 
relation to foreign currency exposure has been carried out 
by the management.

Cash flow interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in 
relation to variable-rate accounts receivable, bank balances, 
loans and advances and accounts payable (2023: variable-
rate accounts receivable, bank balances, loans and advances, 
accounts payable and short-term bank borrowings).

As at 30 September 2024 and 30 September 2023, the 
Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly related to the 
fluctuation of Prime Rate arising from the Group’s accounts 
receivable and loans and advances and market savings 
interest rate arising from the Group’s bank balances. As 
at 30 September 2023, the Group’s cash flow interest rate 
risk is also related to the fluctuation of HIBOR arising from 
Group’s short-term bank borrowings. The Group’s exposure 
to interest rates on financial assets and financial liabilities 
are detailed below.

38. 
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38. 
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38. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)
Financial instruments bearing variable interest rates in 
nature

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets
Accounts receivable 290,047 358,037
Loans and advances 172,442 186,365
Bank balances 1,509,767 447,755

    

Liabilities 
Short-term bank borrowings – 210,000

    

Interest rate sensitivity
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based 
on the exposure to interest rates at the end of the reporting 
period and it is assumed that the amount of the above 
assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period was in 
existence for the whole year and all other variables were held 
constant throughout the respective year. A 50 basis point 
(2023: 50 basis point) change represents management’s 
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest 
rates in respect of variable rate accounts receivable, loans 
and advances and bank balances (2023: variable rate 
accounts receivable, loans and advances, bank balances 
and short-term bank borrowings).

2024 2023
Change in basis points Change in basis points

+50 –50 +50 –50
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Increase (decrease) in 
profit after tax for the 
year (2023: decrease 
(increase) in loss after 
tax for the year) 

2023

9,861 (2,312) 3,266 (1,396)

      

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is 
unrepresentative of the market interest rate risk as the year 
end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.
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38. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event 
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations in 
relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the 
carrying amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. In order to minimise the 
credit risk, the management of the Group has a delegated 
team to compile the credit and risk management policies, 
to approve credit limits and to determine any debt recovery 
action on those delinquent receivables. In addition, the Group 
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual receivable 
at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate 
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical 
locations is mainly in Hong Kong. The Group has no 
significant concentration of credit risk by any single debtor 
as the exposure is spread over a number of individual and 
institutional customers, except for the loans and advances 
and accounts receivable as disclosed in notes 21 and 22.

The credit risks on bank balances are limited because the 
counterparties are financial institutions with high credit 
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment 
comprises the following categories:

Internal credit rating Description ECL categories

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and 
does not have any past-due amounts or debtor 
frequently repays after due dates in full

12m ECL

12

Medium risk There have been significant increases in credit risk 
since initial recognition through information 
developed internally or external resources

Lifetime 
ECL-not 
credit-impaired

High risk There is evidence indicating the asset is 
credit-impaired

Lifetime 
ECL-credit-impaired

38. 
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(i) 
866,000 2023 1,528,000

(ii) 

38. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(Continued)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the 
Group’s financial assets which are subject to ECL assessment 
as at 30 September 2024 and 30 September 2023:

Notes
Internal credit 
rating 12m or lifetime ECL

2024
Gross carrying amount

2023
Gross carrying amount

12 2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets at amortised cost

Other debtors, deposits and prepayments 
(notes (i) & (ii))

Low risk 12m ECL 6,233 10,983

(i) (ii) 12

Loans and advances 21 Low risk 12m ECL 920,428 1,392,040
12

Medium risk Lifetime ECL – not credit-impaired 85,666 148,738

High risk Lifetime ECL – credit-impaired 1,373,759 2,379,853 1,232,221 2,772,999
  

Accounts receivable – secured margin loans 22 Low risk 12m ECL 48,804 59,459
12

Medium risk Lifetime ECL – not credit-impaired 628 7,808

High risk Lifetime ECL – credit-impaired 1,520,911 1,570,343 1,939,553 2,006,820
  

Accounts receivable – others (Note (ii)) 22 Low/Medium risk Lifetime ECL – not credit-impaired 419,702 137,367
(ii)

High risk Lifetime ECL – credit-impaired 8,105 427,807 9,094 146,461
  

Pledged bank deposits-general accounts 
(note (ii))

23 Low risk 12m ECL 260,000 160,000

(ii) 12

Bank balances and cash-segregated accounts 
(note (ii))

24 Low risk 12m ECL 1,478,077 1,406,891

(ii) 12

Bank balances and cash-general accounts 
(note (ii))

24 Low risk 12m ECL 1,260,778 1,002,263

(ii) 12

Notes:

(i) Prepayments of HK$866,000 (2023: HK$1,528,000) under other 
debtors, deposits and prepayments were not classified as financial 
assets at amortised cost.

(ii) The directors of the Company consider the impacts of the ECL are 
immaterial to the Group and no reconciliation loss allowances have 
been prepared.
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38. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(Continued)
The estimated default rates for each class of financial assets 
are estimated based on historical observed default rates 
over the expected life of the respective class of financial 
assets and are adjusted for forward-looking information 
that is available without undue cost or effort, including 
macroeconomic data such as GDP growth, unemployment, 
benchmark interest rates and house prices. The identification 
of internal credit rating for individual financial assets is 
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant 
information about specific financial assets is updated.

Definition of 12m ECL, Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) and 
Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) are as below:

12m ECL (stage 1): Exposures where there have not been 
a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition and that are 
not credit-impaired upon origination, 
the portion of the lifetime ECL 
associated with the probability of 
default events occurring within the 
next 12 months is recognised.

Lifetime ECL 
(not credit-impaired) 
(stage 2):

Exposures where there have been a 
significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition but are not credit-
impaired, a lifetime ECL (i.e. reflecting 
the remaining lifetime of the financial 
asset) is recognised.

Lifetime ECL 
(credit-impaired) 
(stage 3):

Exposures are assessed as credit-
impaired when one or more events 
that have a detrimental impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of that 
asset have occurred. For exposures 
that have become credit-impaired, a 
lifetime ECL is recognised and interest 
revenue is calculated by applying the 
effective interest rate to the amortised 
cost (gross carrying amount net 
of provision) rather than the gross 
carrying amount from the beginning 
of the subsequent reporting period.

38. 
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38. 

3

38. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(Continued)
The management determines staging of financial assets 
subject to ECL assessment based on qualitative and 
quantitative factors, if applicable, including overdue period 
of interest and principal, change in fair value of pledged 
listed securities or properties that triggered the margin calls 
for additional collateral or constituted events of breach of 
contracts respectively, and status of margin calls.

Information that will be taken into account when assessing 
significant increase in credit risk are also set out in note 3.

The following tables show reconciliation of gross carrying 
amount and loss allowances that has been recognised for 
loans and advances and accounts receivable from margin 
client.
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38. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(Continued)
Loans and advances – loss allowance
30 September 2024

12m ECL

Lifetime ECL 
(not credit-

impaired)
Lifetime ECL 

(credit-impaired) Total

12

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note (i))
(i)

Loss allowance as at 1 October 2023 2023 10 1 746 130 695,416 696,292
Changes in the loss allowance due to financial assets 

as at 1 October 2023
2023 10 1

– Transfer from 12m ECL to lifetime ECL 
(not credit-impaired)

12 (1) 1 – –

– Transfer from 12m ECL to lifetime ECL 
(credit-impaired) (Note (i))

12
(i)

(109) – 109 –

– Transfer from lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 
to lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) (Note (ii))

(i i)

– (77) 77 –

– Transfer from lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 
to 12m ECL 12

12 (12) – –

– Net remeasurement of ECL arising from financial 
assets transferred from 12m ECL to lifetime ECL 
(not credit-impaired)

12 – 143 – 143

– Net remeasurement of ECL arising from financial 
assets transferred from 12m ECL to lifetime 
ECL (credit-impaired) (Note (i))

12

(i)

– – 41,786 41,786

– Net remeasurement of ECL arising from financial 
assets transferred from lifetime ECL 
(not credit-impaired) to lifetime ECL 
(credit-impaired) (Note (ii)) (i i)

– – 12,006 12,006

– Net remeasurement of ECL arising from financial 
assets transferred from lifetime ECL 
(not credit-impaired) to 12m ECL

12
156 – – 156

– Net remeasurement of ECL due to change in 
credit risk without transfer of stage (Note (iv)) (iv)

706 1 98,112 98,819

New financial assets originated or purchased 
(Note (iii))

(i i i) 49 3 2,490 2,542

Financial assets that have been derecognised (337) (31) (5,873) (6,241)
Written off of financial assets (Note (v)) (v) – – (5,242) (5,242)      
As at 30 September 2024 2024 9 30 1,222 158 838,881 840,261      

38. 
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38. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(Continued)
Loans and advances – loss allowance (Continued)
30 September 2023

12m ECL

Lifetime ECL
(not credit-

impaired)

Lifetime ECL
(credit-

impaired) Total

12

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note (i))
(i)

Loss allowance as at 1 October 2022 2022 10 1 2,298 556 656,572 659,426
Changes in the loss allowance due to financial 

assets as at 1 October 2022 
2022 10 1

– Transfer from 12m ECL to lifetime ECL 
(not credit-impaired) 

12 (115) 115 – –

– Transfer from 12m ECL to lifetime ECL 
(credit-impaired) (Note (i)) 

12
(i)

(149) – 149 –

– Transfer from lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 
to lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) (Note (ii)) 

(i i)

– (228) 228 –

– Transfer from lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 
to 12m ECL 12

98 (98) – –

– Net remeasurement of ECL arising from financial 
assets transferred from 12m ECL to lifetime 
ECL (not credit-impaired) 

12 – (36) – (36)

– Net remeasurement of ECL arising from financial 
assets transferred from 12m ECL to lifetime 
ECL (credit-impaired) (Note (i)) 

12

(i)

– – 16,799 16,799

– Net remeasurement of ECL arising from financial 
assets transferred from lifetime ECL 
(not credit-impaired) to lifetime ECL 
(credit-impaired) (Note (ii)) (i i)

– – 32,245 32,245

– Net remeasurement of ECL arising from financial 
assets transferred from lifetime ECL 
(not credit-impaired) to 12m ECL 

12
(76) – – (76)

– Net remeasurement of ECL arising from financial 
assets transferred from lifetime ECL 
(credit-impaired) to 12m ECL

12
3 – – 3

– Net remeasurement of ECL due to change in 
credit risk without transfer of stage (Note (iv)) (iv)

(686) (166) 132,090 131,238

New financial assets originated or purchased 
(Note (iii)) 

(i i i) 124 – 17,981 18,105

Financial assets that have been derecognised (751) (13) (10) (774)
Written off of financial assets (Note (v)) (v) – – (160,638) (160,638)      
As at 30 September 2023 2023 9 30 746 130 695,416 696,292      

38. 

2023 9 30
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38. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(Continued)
Loans and advances – loss allowance (Continued)
Notes: 

(i) During the year ended 30 September 2024, loans and advances with 
a gross carrying amount of approximately HK$127 million (2023: 
HK$82 million), which were classified as stage 1 as at beginning 
of the reporting period, were assessed as credit-impaired and were 
transferred to stage 3. Accordingly, the impairment allowance of 
approximately HK$109,000 (2023: HK$149,000) made under 12m 
ECL was transferred to lifetime ECL (credit-impaired). Additional 
re-measurement of impairment allowance of approximately HK$42 
million (2023: HK$17 million) was made under lifetime ECL (credit 
impaired) by the management under the individual assessment.

As at 30 September 2024, included in these exposures of 
approximately HK$127 million (2023: HK$82 million) was loans and 
advances with gross carrying amounts of approximately HK$124 
million (2023: HK$80 million) which were partially supported by 
secured properties held by the borrowers in Hong Kong with an 
impairment allowance of approximately HK$40 million (2023: 
HK$15 million) made during the year. The Group has the rights on 
these secured properties in Hong Kong held by the borrowers to 
repay the outstanding loans and advances of approximately HK$84 
million (2023: HK$65 million).

As at 30 September 2024, included in these exposures of 
approximately HK$127 million (2023: HK$82 million) was unsecured 
loans and advances with gross carrying amounts of approximately 
HK$2 million (2023: HK$2 million) and an impairment allowance of 
approximately HK$2 million (2023: HK$2 million) was made during 
the year.

The fair values of the properties in Canada were arrived at on 
the basis of a valuation carried out by an independent qualified 
professional valuer not connected to the Group. The fair value 
was based on the market approach, by comparing recent market 
transactions of similar interests located in the surrounding area 
and then making adjustments to the transaction prices of the 
comparables based on elements of comparison. In determining 
the fair value of the relevant properties, the management work 
closely with the qualified external valuer to determine appropriate 
valuation techniques and inputs for fair value measurements. The 
management considered that the major adjustment on the fair 
value of these properties related to the adjustment relating to size, 
view, location and relative quality.

38. 
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(i) 

2024 2023 9 30

(ii) 2024 9 30
22,000,000

2023 95,000,000

77,000 2023 228,000

12,000,000
2 0 2 3 3 2 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0

9 , 9 0 0 , 0 0 0 2 0 2 3
62,800,000

(iii) 2024 9 30 12
35,000,000

2023 596 ,000 ,000

4 9 , 0 0 0 2 0 2 3 1 2 4 , 0 0 0
34,000,000

2023 595 ,000 ,000
2 0 2 3 1 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0

12

38. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(Continued)
Loans and advances – loss allowance (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(i) (Continued)

As at 30 September 2024 and 2023, the fair value of the property in 
Hong Kong was determined by the management under the market 
approach which was based on market observable transactions of 
similar interests located in the same building, estate or village with 
reference to an indicative offering price from an interested buyer. 
The management considered that the major adjustment on the fair 
value of these properties related to the floor level adjustment on 
individual floors of the property and that a higher level would have 
a higher fair value.

In determining the allowances for credit-impaired loans and 
advances with the pledged properties as mentioned above, the 
management takes into account the fair value of collateral and 
the outstanding balance of loans receivable individually taking 
into account any executable settlement plan and realisation 
arrangements.

(ii) During the year ended 30 September 2024, loans and advances 
with gross carrying amount of approximately HK$22 million (2023: 
HK$95 million), which were classified as stage 2 as at beginning 
of the reporting period, were assessed as credit-impaired and were 
transferred to stage 3. Accordingly, the impairment allowance of 
approximately HK$77,000 (2023: HK$228,000) made under lifetime 
ECL (not credit-impaired) was transferred to lifetime ECL (credit-
impaired). Additional re-measurement of impairment allowance 
of approximately HK$12 million (2023: HK$32 million) was made 
under lifetime ECL (credit impaired) by the management under the 
individual assessment. The remaining loans and advances of gross 
carrying amount of approximately HK$9.9 million (2023: HK$62.8 
million) was supported by secured properties held by the borrowers 
in Hong Kong.

(iii) During the year ended 30 September 2024, impairment allowances 
HK$49,000 (2023: HK$124,000) was made against new financial 
assets originated or purchased under 12m ECL with the gross 
carrying amount of HK$35 million (2023: HK$596 million), which 
included newly granted mortgage loans and unsecured loans of 
gross carrying amount of HK$34 million (2023: HK$595 million) and 
HK$Nil (2023: HK$1 million) respectively. The 12m ECL has taken 
into account the fair value of the related properties in Hong Kong 
or pledged securities, if any, under the ECL model.
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38. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(Continued)
Loans and advances – loss allowance (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(iii) (Continued)

During the year ended 30 September 2024, impairment allowances 
of HK$3,000 (2023: HK$Nil) was made against new financial assets 
originated or purchased under lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 
with the gross carrying amount of HK$1 million (2023: HK$3 
million), which included newly granted mortgage loans and newly 
granted unsecured loans of gross carrying amount of HK$1 million 
(2023: HK$3 million). The lifetime ECL (not-credit-impaired) has 
taken into account the fair value of the related properties in Hong 
Kong, if any, under the ECL model.

During the year ended 30 September 2024, included in the 
impairment allowance of approximately HK$2 million (2023: 
HK$18 million) from new financial assets originated or purchased 
under lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) was mainly related to the 
gross carrying amount of approximately HK$2 million (2023: 
HK$22 million). The loans and advances of HK$2 million as at 
30 September 2024 were mainly unsecured loans overdue for 
more than 90 days as at year end and impairment allowance of 
approximately HK$2 million was made for the year.

(iv) Included in impairment allowance of approximately HK$98 million 
(2023: HK$132 million) recognised for those remaining under 
lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) are mainly due to impairment 
allowance of term loans approximately HK$16 million and 
impairment allowance of mortgage loans approximately HK$82 
million respectively, in respect of gross carrying amount of 
approximately HK$391 million and HK$1,088 million respectively 
as at 30 September 2024. Included in the impairment allowance 
of term loans are impairment of approximately HK$22 million as a 
result of further decrease in fair value of pledged listed securities 
and deterioration of financial ability of the borrowers of gross 
carrying amount of approximately HK$361 million, and a reversal 
of impairment allowance of approximately HK$6 million of gross 
carrying amount of HK$30 million as at 30 September 2024 based 
on actual repayments during the year and expected repayments 
from the borrowers received subsequent to year end.

38. 

(ii i) 
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30 30,000,000
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38. 

(v) 

5,000,000 2023
161,000,000

(vi) 

727,000,000 2023
524,000,000 2024 9 30

398 ,000 ,000
2 0 2 3 2 0 3 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0

38. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(Continued)
Loans and advances – loss allowance (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(v) The Group writes off loans and advances of gross carrying amount 
of approximately HK$5 million (2023: HK$161 million) which has 
been fully impaired during the year when there is information 
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and 
there is no realistic prospect of recovery e.g. when the debtor 
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 
proceedings, or when the loans and advances are over two years 
past due, whichever occurs earlier.

(vi) The Group has established credit policies to ensure all loans 
and advances are subject to credit risk assessment and ongoing 
monitoring, including evaluation of customers’ credit ratings (if 
publicly available), financial background and repayment abilities. 
ECL assessment is carried out based on a close monitoring 
and evaluation of the collectability of individual account and on 
management’s judgement, including the current creditworthiness 
of the borrowers, collateral value, the past collection history and 
available forward-looking information. The Group had commenced 
legal proceedings against borrowers of impaired loans with the 
gross carrying amount totaling to approximately HK$727 million 
(2023: HK$524 million), on which provision for impairment of 
approximately HK$398 million (2023: HK$203 million) was made as 
at 30 September 2024. As at the reporting date legal proceedings 
are still in progress.
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38. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(Continued)
Accounts receivable from secured margin client – loss 
allowance
30 September 2024

12m ECL

Lifetime ECL 
(not credit-

impaired)

Lifetime ECL 
(credit-

impaired) Total

12

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note (ii))
(ii)

Loss allowance as at 1 October 2023 2023 10 1 – 3 1,634,577 1,634,580
Changes in the loss allowance due to financial assets 

as at 1 October 2023 
2023 10 1

– Transfer from lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) to 
lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) (Note (ii)) 

(i i)

– (2) 2 –

– Transfer from lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 
to 12m ECL 12

– – – –

– Net remeasurement of ECL arising from financial 
assets transferred from 12m ECL to lifetime ECL 
(not credit-impaired) 

12 – – – –

– Net remeasurement of ECL arising from financial 
assets transferred from 12m ECL to lifetime ECL 
(credit-impaired) (Note (i))

12

(i)

– – – –

– Net remeasurement of ECL arising from financial 
assets transferred from lifetime ECL 
(not credit-impaired) to lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired) (Note (ii)) (i i)

– – 3,029 3,029

– Net remeasurement of ECL due to change in 
credit risk without transfer of stage (Note (iii)) (i i i)

– – (60,693) (60,693)

New financial assets originated or purchased (Note (iv)) (iv) 1 – 70,615 70,616
Financial assets that have been derecognised 1 – (8,818) (8,817)
Written off of financial assets (Note v) (v) – – (350,720) (350,720)      
As at 30 September 2024 2024 9 30 2 1 1,287,992 1,287,995

      

38. 

2024 9 30
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38. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(Continued)
Accounts receivable from secured margin client – loss 
allowance (Continued)
30 September 2023

12m ECL

Lifetime ECL
(not credit-

impaired)

Lifetime ECL
(credit-

impaired) Total

12

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note (ii))
(ii)

Loss allowance as at 1 October 2022  2022 10 1 196 2 1,429,975 1,430,173
Changes in the loss allowance due to financial assets 

as at 1 October 2023 
2023 10 1

– Transfer from lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) to 
lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) (Note (ii)) 

(i i)

– – – –

– Transfer from lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 
to 12m ECL 12

(177) – 177 –

– Net remeasurement of ECL arising from financial 
assets transferred from 12m ECL to lifetime 
ECL (not credit-impaired) 

12 – 2 – 2

– Net remeasurement of ECL arising from financial 
assets transferred from 12m ECL to lifetime 
ECL (credit-impaired) (Note (i)) 

12

(i)

– – 71,995 71,995

– Net remeasurement of ECL arising from financial 
assets transferred from lifetime ECL (not 
credit-impaired) to lifetime ECL(credit-impaired) 
(Note (ii)) (i i)

– – – –

– Net remeasurement of ECL due to change in credit 
risk without transfer of stage (Note (iii)) (i i i)

(2) – 86,520 86,518

New financial assets originated or purchased (Note (iv)) (iv) – – 45,910 45,910
Financial assets that have been derecognised (17) (1) – (18)
Written off of financial assets (Note v) (v) – – – –      
As at 30 September 2023 2023 9 30 – 3 1,634,577 1,634,580

      

38. 

2023 9 30
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38. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(Continued)
Accounts receivable from secured margin client – loss 
allowance (Continued)
Notes:

(i) During the year ended 30 September 2024, accounts receivable 
from secured margin clients with a gross carrying amount of 
HK$14,000 (2023: HK$179 million), which were classified as stage 
1 as at beginning of the reporting period, were assessed as credit-
impaired and were transferred to stage 3. Accordingly, 12m ECL 
of HK$Nil (2023: HK$0.18 million) was transferred to lifetime 
ECL (credit-impaired) during the year ended 30 September 2024. 
Additional re-measurement of impairment allowance of HK$Nil 
(2023: HK$72 million) made under lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 
was provided by the management under the individual assessment. 
Additional disclosures for the stage 3 exposures and individual 
assessment are detailed in footnote (viii) in this note.

(ii) During the year ended 30 September 2024, accounts receivable 
from secured margin clients with a gross carrying amount of 
approximately HK$3 million (2023: HK$3,000), which were classified 
as stage 2 as at beginning of the reporting period, were assessed as 
credit-impaired and transferred to stage 3. Accordingly, lifetime ECL 
(not credit-impaired) of HK$2,000 (2023: HK$Nil) was transferred to 
lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) during the year ended 30 September 
2024. Additional re-measurement of impairment allowance of HK$3 
million (2023: HK$Nil) made under lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 
was provided by the management under the individual assessment. 
Additional disclosure for the stage 3 exposure and individual 
assessment are detailed in footnote (viii) in this note.

(iii) Impairment allowance of HK$61 million (2023: impairment 
allowance of HK$87 million) was made under lifetime ECL (credit-
impaired) related to accounts receivable from secured margin 
clients with a gross carrying amount of HK$1,372 million (2023: 
HK$1,675 million) due to a decrease in fair value of the pledged 
listed securities during the year ended 30 September 2024. 
Additional disclosures for the stage 3 exposure and individual 
assessment are detailed in footnote (viii) in this note.

(iv) During the year ended 30 September 2024, new advances to 
secured margin clients with gross carrying amount of HK$146 
million (2023: HK$85 million) were assessed as credit-impaired 
under Stage 3 due to the decrease in fair value of the pledged 
listed securities after the new advances with outstanding margin 
call more than 30 days. Accordingly, an impairment allowance of 
HK$71 million (2023: HK$46 million) was made under lifetime ECL 
(credit-impaired) by individual assessments. Additional disclosure 
for the stage 3 exposure and individual assessment are detailed in 
footnote (viii) in this note.

38. 

(i) 2024 9 30
14,000

2023 179 ,000 ,000

2024 9 30 2023
180,000 12

2023
72,000,000

(vi i i )

(i i) 2 0 2 4 9 3 0

3 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0 2 0 2 3 3 , 0 0 0

2,000 2023

2024 9 30

3,000,000 2023

(viii)

(i i i) 
6 1 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0

2 0 2 3 8 7 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0
1,372,000,000 2023

1,675,000,000
2024 9 30

(viii)

(iv) 2 0 2 4 9 3 0
30

146,000,000 2023 85,000,000

71,000,000 2023
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38. 

(v) 

(vi) 2 0 2 4 9 3 0 1 0 0 % 2 0 2 3
100% 100% 2023 100% 23%

2023 16%

326,000,000
2023 728 ,000 ,000 2024
9 30 263,000,000

2023 676,000,000

38. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(Continued)
Accounts receivable from secured margin client – loss 
allowance (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(v) The Group writes off accounts receivable from secured margin client 
when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. 
when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has entered 
into bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade receivables are over 
two years past due, whichever occurs earlier. The Group has taken 
legal action against the debtors to recover the amount due.

(vi) As at 30 September 2024, 100% (2023: 100%), 100% (2023: 100%), 
23% (2023: 16%) of the outstanding balances in gross carrying 
amount were secured by sufficient collateral for stage 1, 2 and 3 
respectively. In determining the allowances for credit impaired loans 
to margin clients, the management of the Group also takes into 
account shortfall by comparing the fair value of listed securities 
pledged as collateral and the outstanding balance of accounts 
receivable from margin client individually, subsequent settlement, 
executable settlement plan and restructuring arrangements with 
available forward-looking information.

To minimise the Group’s exposure to credit risk, the Group has a 
policy for reviewing and monitoring accounts receivable without 
sufficient collateral and those with default or delinquency in 
interest or principal payment. ECL assessment is carried out based 
on an evaluation of the collectability and ageing analysis of the 
accounts and on management’s judgement including the current 
creditworthiness, collateral value, the past collection history and 
available forward-looking information.

Management had set up the credit limits for each individual 
customer which are subject to regular reviews by management. Any 
extension of credit beyond these approval limits has to be approved 
by relevant level of management on an individual basis according 
to the exceeded amount. Impairments are also made for those 
clients with shortfall as at the year end and with no settlement or 
executable settlement plan and arrangement after the year end. The 
Group has commenced legal proceedings against the borrowers of 
these credit-impaired loans with the gross carrying amount totalling 
to approximately HK$326 million (2023: HK$728 million), on which 
provision for impairment of HK$263 million (2023: HK$676 million) 
was made as at 30 September 2024. As at the reporting date, the 
legal proceedings are still in progress.

Liquidity risk
Internally generated cash flow, bank borrowings are the 
sources of funds to finance the operations of the Group. 
The majority of the Group’s banking facilities are subject 
to floating rate and are renewable annually. The Group’s 
liquidity risk management includes making available standby 
banking facilities and diversifying the funding sources. The 
Group regularly reviews the major funding positions to ensure 
adequate financial resources are available to meet their 
respective financial obligations.
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38. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
As at 30 September 2024, the Group has available unutilised 
banking facilities of approximately HK$1,165 million (2023: 
HK$1,765 million).

The amounts disclosed in the table below are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows. The table includes both interest 
and principal cash flows.

Liquidity table

Repayable
on demand

or less than
3 months

Over
3 months

to
1 year

Over
1 year

to
5 years Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

30 September 2024 2024 9 30
Accounts payable 1,750,576 – – 1,750,576
Other creditors 20,934 – – 20,934
Lease liabilities 2,309 5,884 4,225 12,418      

1,773,819 5,884 4,225 1,783,928
      

Repayable
on demand

or less than
3 months

Over
3 months

to
1 year

Over
1 year

to
5 years Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

30 September 2023 2023 9 30
Accounts payable 1,537,710 – – 1,537,710
Other creditors 707 – – 707
Lease liabilities 2,669 7,377 13,214 23,260
Short-term bank borrowings 

(note) 
210,000 – – 210,000

      
1,751,086 7,377 13,214 1,771,677

      

Note: Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included 
in the ‘repayable on demand or less than 3 months’ time band in 
the maturity analysis. As at 30 September 2023, the aggregate 
undiscounted principal amounts of these bank borrowings amounted 
to HK$210,000,000. As at 30 September 2023, the aggregate 
principal and interest cash outflows will amount to HK$210,375,000.

38. 

2024 9 30
1,165,000,000

2023 1,765,000,000

 

2 0 2 3 9 3 0

210,000 ,000 2023 9 30

210,375,000
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38. 

2024 2023 9 30

38. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies (Continued)
Fair value
The executive directors of the Company consider that the carrying 
amounts of financial assets and liabilities recorded at amortised 
cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their 
fair values as at 30 September 2024 and 2023.
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Year ended 30 September
9 30

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

RESULT 
Revenue 917,407 676,812 512,824 441,046 531,628       
Profit (loss) before 

taxation
(679,607) (541,560) (290,581) (160,795) 66,130

Taxation (10,140) (34,534) (8,653) 157 231       
Profit (loss) for the year (689,747) (576,094) (299,234) (160,638) 66,361

       

As at 30 September
9 30

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Total assets 10,016,872 6,797,000 5,686,148 5,194,272 5,273,826
Total liabilities (5,591,259) (2,947,358) (2,135,807) (1,804,727) (1,817,746)       
Net assets 4,425,613 3,849,642 3,550,341 3,389,545 3,456,080
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